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.                                             THE BOOK OF MY LIFE 

                                                                                     

                                                               PREFACE 

 

This year is the 80th anniversary of the Greek-Italian war which started on the 28th of 

October 1940 and six months later on 6th of April 1941 the massive attack of German and 

Bulgarian forces which resulted the occupation of Greece which lasted almost 4 years. 

I was 12 years old then and I have vivid memories as I watched the never ending columns 

of tanks and armored vehicles passing in front of our house and my eyes heading towards 

the city of Thessaloniki. 

This book already is written in Greek divided in nine books and one set is donated to the 

Greek Consul General Library in Melbourne.  

I am not a professional writer, particularly in English, since this language is my adopted 

one and Iôve learned it all by myself some in Greece and more in Australia since I arrived 

here in 1954. 

This book is dedicated to my two daughterôs six grand children to nine great grand 

children and to future ones  

Thinking Greek and writing in English doesnôt always translated correctly but to keep its 

originality without any interference by expert writer to correct my mistakes; I will leave it 

as it is; written  IN MY OWN WORDS with a lot of pictures which each and every one 

tells a true story with thousands of words  

 

 

                                                    

                           
 

                                           Anastasios (Tasos) Kolokotronis  
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                                                THE BOOK OF MY LIFE 

                                                  By Anastasios Kolokotronis 

PERIOD A  ̀
 My ancestry 
                                              

Greece is a small and mountainous country with almost 3.000 islands and occupies one of 

the best places of this planet blessed to be considered by many scholars the birthplace of 

the western civilization.  

 After the Roman occupation Greece ceased to exist as a nation but the foundation was 

laid on solid ground by those magnificent philosophers, poets, architects, mathematicians, 

astronomers, sculptors engineers, doctors, chemists Botanists and countless other who 

contributed so that their work to be continued by other civilizations and proved that they 

had done a magnificent contribution to humanity 

The only period that this place remained stagnant was during the four hundred years of 

Ottoman occupation (1453-1821) 

This country and the younger Greek generations owes gratitude to many distinguished  

heroes such as Theodore Kolokotronis and especially to the ordinary people who fought a 

giant empire for four centuries to gain its freedom and finally succeeded  

 

                                          
 

1821 The leader of the revolution General Theodore Kolokotronis with his brave 

fighters in a scene after a battle  
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Iôve learned from my grand parents who have been born in Turkey that they were 

descendants of the Theodore Kolokotronis family who lived near Tripoli of Peloponnesos 

in Greece and who became in 1821 the leader of the Greek revolution against the 

Ottoman Empire and later after the liberation of the southern Greece became Prime 

Minister of the nation  

 Because of his role the entire family and relatives were under political persecution and in 

a short time about 70 members; men women and children were executed by the Ottoman 

Turks. This forced some of the surviving members to flee the country by falsifying their 

names to a Turkish; like one as Karabetsoglou and as that they landed in the island of 

Chios and from there to the mainland of Turkey where they were safer  

They settled with other refugees in the village Mouradiye near Smyrna where they were 

given from the local authorities a small piece of land to build a house and a few acres of 

land for farming. 

 

                          
 

A typical street of Mouradiye on left the house of Papazoglou and on the right the 

house of my grand parents Nikos and Ariande Kolokotronis 

 

According to their sayings the majority of the populations were Greeks and they had the 

freedom to have their own church and an elementary school and they lived in harmony 

with the Turks and other ethnicities 

Before the First World War and about in 1910 the Turkish Government started to draft in 

to the army all the young subjects to prepare them to fight against the allies. This forced 

many young people of every nationality to escape to western countries rather than being 

drafted to a bloody war  

One young man then who decided to escape was my father then 18 and orphan who with 

other friends bribed a boatman to take them to the nearby free Greek island of Chios. 

From there they boarded another boat and ended up in Piraeus where they asked asylum 

and requested to migrate to the USA. 
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It was in Piraeus when he revealed to the Greek authorities that his real name was 

Prodromos Kolokotronis and not Prodo Karabetsoglou as he was known in Turkey and 

requested to be rectified and reinstated his original name. 

 

                    
 

This house belonged to my grand parents and to my dad and abandoned in Mouradyie 

1922 and in 1994 was still the same 

  

  

After a long journey he arrived to the Ellis Island in NY and like all migrants he worked 

building bridges; in road and rail constructions, in factories and in restaurants  

In 1915 when the First World War started he joint the US Army as volunteer and served 

in the infantry for a year. When he discharged he went to San Francisco and started a 

restaurant business with his friend George Tsalikidis and was doing quite well. 

In 1919 when Greece declared war against Turkey to liberate the old long lost places and 

the Greek people he volunteered again to join the Greek Army as a driver in a supply unit  

The war operation with the support of the western allies was successful and favored the 

Greek plans occupying almost half of Turkey. The Greek civilians jubilantly celebrated 

their freedom but not for very long. 
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In September 1922 things went from bad to worst because the Turks under the command 

of Mustafa Kemal reorganized the army and started attacking the Greek army from many 

fronts and their civilians involving in guerilla war in towns and villages killing people 
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indiscriminately and burning properties that belonged to foreigners. This situation made 

the Greek army to abandon all the war operations and to retrieve since there was no more 

help from the allied forces  

 

                          
  

The two men white shirts are the brothers Elias and Panagiotis Kagialis with their 

wives who born in this house and flee the village with their parents when they were 

teenagers. The Turkish woman in scarf now is the owner who invited them to see their 

parentôs house and the place they grew up and abandoned it during the great exodus in 

1922 

     

This created a panic to the civilians so begun leaving their villages and homes with any 

means of transport with the hope to reach the port of Smyrna to board a ship and to 

escape anywhere rather from being killed by the angry mobs. According to eyewitnesses 

more than half a million people squeezed at the dock.  Meanwhile the entire city of 

Smyrna from one end to the other was alight mainly the Greek, Armenian and Jewish 

area where looting was done earlier. 

Some stood lucky to board a ship but for many thousands who couldnôt do it either killed 

or taken prisoners for the road construction camps  

The catastrophe of Smyrna in 1922, the Pontian and Armenian genocide some years 

earlier is well known from the historical publication and those who were lucky to 

survived this ordeal transported to various parts of Greece for resettlement 

 

  

                                               MY VILLAGE ( Nea Magnesia) 

                                                           

                 

Among in those thousands of refugees who came to Thessaloniki were my grand parents, 

parents and many relatives who for 4 years lived in tents and in old army tolls without 

enough food proper sanitation and clothing. To add on that malaria and meningitis ware 

number one killer particularly the children and the old 
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After 1926 the Government began a rehabilitation program to build small houses only to 

married couples and to families 

 

                               
 

Map of Greece and Turkey About in 1800 many Greeks escaped from southern Greece 

to avoid persecution and settled in mainland Turkey in the village of Mouradiye near 

the ancient Greek city of Magnesia (Manisa)     

 

  

In that year hundreds of young people got married to become eligible for a housing 

commission house and later to a piece of land for farming and some money as war 

compensation 

The housing and farming area where the settlement allocated for development was only 

nine kilometers from the city of Thessaloniki but it was marshy and mosquito infected 

and wasnôt suitable but they had no choice but to accept what the government offer to 

them 

Another problem they faced from the first day they arrived there as refugees were the 

discriminations against them by the locals. Although they were Greeks of the same faith 

because they couldnôt speak Greek and dressed differently they were not welcomed, but, 

as the years gone passed they started to learn how to live together in peace and in 

harmony 

They decided and knew well that they wouldnôt go back again to their homes and had to 

accept to live only with past memories. 
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A typical housing commission house which we stayed there in 1994 it was renovated 

and belonged to Houla Dinitriou. Christina with young Helen   

 

                                      
 

A modern three story house is build by cousins George Delsizis replacing their old one 

similar like one on the right 

    

Their spirit was high and their determination to start from scratch and to make a descent 

life was very strong. Young and old even children worked together hard nonstop summer 

and winter and by 1930 that marshy land within a short time became a paradise with 

vegetable gardens vineyards and orchards Their houses were not connected to tap water 

neither to electricity and the roads in winter were in deep mud and in summer in thick 

dust but they were happy with simple things. Next to their houses they build a cart port 

for the cart and small stables to accommodate a cow or two for the milk a horse and a 

chook house for the eggs. Also it was important to have an outside bread oven and a toilet 

and almost every house had a well and a hand water pump or by bucket since the under 

water supply was in abundant. 

I remember no one had to pay any bill because no services were provided by the 

authorities. It was a self providing system. The only charges imposed upon them was the 

productivity levy which was minimal and most of the time nil. 
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 SOCIAL LIFE  

 

Because of their language barrier they lived in a closed community environment since all 

400 families who survived the holocaust kept together and somehow they were related to 

each other 

The men after hard work at the farm would walk to a café to meet friends and relatives 

drink ouzo or a Greek coffee play cards or a backgammon (tavli) game and discus in 

Turkish about their work and always about their beloved lost country 

I born in 1929 and I grew up among those magnificent people and Iôve heard countless 

stories about their lives their village and their plight for survival. 

From the elderly people I learned about their life in Mouradiye and how they survived as 

Greek Orthodox in a Moslem dominated empire. 

They were full of wisdom that always tried to past them to younger generations 

Three main groups of refuges settled in New Magnesia and Diavata which were one 

opposite the other divided by the national highway and two railroads. 

The largest groups with about 200 families were those from Mouradiye and 80 families 

settled in Diavata 80 from Bursa settled in N Magnesia and about 50 from Caucasus to 

Diavata  

The majority of them were farmers or gardeners with very little education neither in 

Turkish nor in Greek literature but their native language the Turkish and they were very 

good in their specialties  Some of them were well educated in both languages and played 

lead role in community affairs. 

Also they were culturally good in music and dances and had great effect upon the 

Modern Greek music in later years.   

  

   

                 
 

                                1928. My father standing serves his customers 
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                           1940. My father on the right sitting with his customers  

 

My fatherôs coffee shop was then one of the largest and the most popular place for 

meetings and entertainment. On Saturdays and Sundays special band of musicians and 

singers would play and sing the famous smyrnian songs in Turkish that made them to 

sing and dance all night until the early hours of the next day and on the excitement 

smashing plates glasses and the window panes was a usual thing. Every Monday Mr 

Theodore Kourtidis the glassier would come to replace the window glasses. 

From 1930 until Italy declared war against Greece on October 28 life was quite good and 

prosperous. The two side by side refugee villages of New Magnesia and Diavata thrived 

and people enjoyed life in full  

      

 

                  
 

1949 winter a group of refugees from Hamityie Turkey in front of my fatherôs café my 

father sits on the right with Stratis, Panagioti, sister Vasiliki,  Hirvatis,  my mother,  

Yiannis  and Antonio,   



 11 

 

                                   
 

Same day, this is the main frontage of the caf. I am in army uniform with my sister 

Vasiliki. 

 

Since the refugees settled there hundreds of new born children added to the population 

which gave then a new hope and encouragement to continue their strife for success. The 

new generation gave the hope and the future seamed to be on their side as they watched 

things to change for the betterment.     

 

                  
 

1945 a group of my fellow villagers of New Magnesia have a Sunday morning 

gathering at the coffee house of Anastasios Taxintaris (standing). All born in 

Mouradiye of Turkey and in 1922 settled as refugees then in younger age and some of 

them as children. 
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It took them many many years to believe that they would never go bach to their village, 

to their houses and farms again. It was a non return journey and until 1982 the Turkish 

government had imposed 60 years restrictions for the refugees to visit their places. Later 

when the restrictions lifted those who lived little long enough and were in good health 

went to see their birth places with their Greek born children. 

Although Iôve been to Istanbul, Bursa and other places in Turkey I hesitated to go and see 

my parentôs house now occupied by the brutal invaders. Many people whoôve born there 

and mostly of the younger generation visited their parentôs places just to witness where 

they lived to take some pictures to meet and talk to the occupants and tell them that once 

upon a time the houses and other properties which now live in belonged to them or to 

their parents. Most Turks admitted that theyôve been placed to their houses by Turkish 

government, apologized to them for their misfortune and welcomed the visitors 

openheartedly 

 

                         
 

1994. Here the Turk Mayor of Mouradiye in the middle of the table meets a group of 

my villagers at the town hall. At his left and right are the brothers Panagiotis and Elias 

Kagialis who happened to be school mates and good school friends with him before the 

war in 1922. This same building then was their school 

 

 

From my young age I was learning two languages at the same time, Greek and Turkish 

but mostly Turkish because my parents although they were Greeks their spoke more 

Turkish than Greek and my fathers clients and generally the whole population of the 

village spoke Turkish. 

I started to learn proper Greek when I went to school at the age of seven and I spoke the 

Turkish language only with the elderly people  
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                                               1933. Here I am as 4 years old 

 

The decade of the thirties was the best as I remember. Although Greece was under a 

dictatorship of Ioannis Metaxas from 4th of August 1935 the country prospered in every 

field. Farmers and workers improved their income, new schools build and education 

provided not only for all children also to adults and to elderly to learn Greek. Not only 

that I remember every year on Saint John day (his name day) the entire country would 

celebrated his name day with festivities but exceptionally the farmers cooperatives were 

subsidized by the government and their members that day would drink eat and dance until 

the early hours of the next day and my dadôs shop was the preferable one who had 

Smyrnian band and singers to entertain them 

As they say ñgood things donôt last longò seams to be true. 

The Second World War already started in Europe in 1939 and most countries were up in 

arms which a bad omen was  

The people particularly like those who settled recently in various parts of Greece from the 

1922 disaster feared most that another catastrophe was looming ahead. I could understand 

from the conversations they had and from the only one radio we had in the two 

settlements and occasionally a news paper people followed the war operation in Europe 

where the German forces occupied one country after the other in matter of few days and 

we feared that Greeceôs turn would come soon. 

Greeceôs two northern boarder countries Albania then under Italyôs occupation and 

Bulgaria were allies with Germany and that wasnôt very encouraging for the Greeks  

1940. People still lived a normal life with their every day work until the 28th of October. 

 

  THE ULTIMATUM  
 On that day very early in the morning the Italian ambassador in Athens instructed by the 

dictator Benito Mussolini went and awakened the Greek Prime Minister I. Metaxas and 

handed over an ultimatum asking him to allow the Italian army to walk through Greece 

uninterrupted and surrender the country unconditionally to Italy. 

Although Metaxas was German sympathizer he was a good patriot. He reacted angrily by 

replying to the Ambassador with a simple (OXI) OHI which in Greek means NO. It was 

the same answer (ɀɃȿɋɁ ȿȷȸȺ) = ñcome and get itò Leonidas the 300 Spartan replied 

on 480BC to the Persian King Xerxis when he asked the Spartans to surrender their arms. 

It is well known that they preferred to die for their country than to surrender  
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                                    MEMORIES FROM THE WAR 

PERIOD B ̀
                                                         

It was Monday morning of 28 of October 1940. 

 

After having had breakfast with couple of glasses of tea bred and olives I grabbed my 

home made bag with some books and walked to school with some other friends from the 

neighborhood. 

At the school yard before class we played happily with our rag ball soccer 

Iôd just started year 11 in a new school with big and long windows with new desks and 

big black board and the teacher Victor Sevetidis started to teach us about agriculture. 

All of sudden we heard for the first time in our lives massive aircraft noise like a thunder 

over our school. We rushed to the window and we saw in the sky a big number of 

airplanes in silver colors heading toward the city of Thessaloniki some 9 kilometers 

away. At the same time we heard a barras of antiaircraft guns aiming to hit the planes and 

the sky filled with gray and white smokes like flowers. Minutes later the planes which 

were bombers started dropping their bombs indiscriminately in populated areas which we 

could see and watch the black smoke billowing to the sky 

We didnôt know what was going on but the teachers sent us all home and the news spread 

quickly that Italy declared war against Greece attacking the Greek lines from Albania. 

 

 

                      
                                                                                  Anastasios Kolokotronis 

 

This is a replica of our coffee shop; build in 1925 and demolished in 1967. During the 

war 1941-45 the left side of the shop used as municipal office                    
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                                                                         Anastasios Kolokotronis 

 

Replica; this is the residential side of two Bedrooms, hall, kitchen and outside toilet. No 

electricity tap water and sewerage were provided 

 

When I arrived home on the other side at the café, I saw a few  high ranging army 

officers talking to my father the mayor and the secretary and soon after they came to 

inspect the shop and our residence, they talked to them again and in a hurry they mounted 

on their horses and disappeared towards the city  

I heard my dad telling mum that our shop was acquired by the army to be used as a 

mobilization center and part of the house as storage. Civilians from that area would come 

to enroll in the army get their uniform there dressed up and rushed to the front line in 

Albania to defend our boarders The officers told dad that the government declared 

general mobilization all over the country and he was also appointed to collect from the 

civilians their cloths put them in bags mark them with their name and address and notify 

their parents or relative to come and collect them 

The same day thousands of young and middle age people gathered hurriedly to join the 

forces and go to fight the enemy. Many elderly parent and young wives with their 

children accompanied them to see them dressed and kiss then good bye and go home 

carrying with them their cloths not knowing if they will return safe  to wear them again 

The scenes of separation with their loved ones never erased from my mind and yet after 

70 years frequently they come to remind me  

Opposite at Mr Sariôs house there was an army unit classifying the horses and carts for 

acquisition and a farrier with hot stamp was putting registration numbers on the horseôs 

legs which smelled awful 

All this commotion lasted about a week and my father couldnôt work in his caf® but 

temporarily he set up a bench outside and served tea coffee and bread cheese and olives 

to the new soldiers all expenses paid by the community. 
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At night my dad with other people who had been appointed as militia men would patrol 

the streets and make sure that the village be under total darkness and out of detection 

from the night raids 

Meanwhile the National Highway and trains that I could see from our house were busy. 

On the highway I watched the unprepared Greek army heading towards the war zone on 

foot tired and exhausted following the horse carts which were loaded with war materials 

and food supplies. The trains were carrying either soldiers or army supplies unstopped. 

 A few army trucks with solid rubber wheels were towing small size field and anti aircraft 

cannons. The cavalry was impressive but not for the rough and freezing mountain 

operations   

 When the drafting finished our café became ammunition cleaning center. The army 

brought hundreds of boxes of various sizes of cartridges to be cleaned from the grease 

they were in and place then in the magazines. For this all school children mobilized who 

brought rags from home and worked day and night to finish the job as soon as possible. 

After that the café became a wool store stuck with knitting yarns which distributed to 

women who could knit socks, gloves, pullovers and hats for the soldiers to keep them 

warm who were fighting on the rough mountains of Albania covered with thick snow 

Although the terrain generally was very rough there the Greek army proved to be too 

good for the attacking forces of Mussolini. In a few weeks time the brave soldiers 

captured several main town and villages and countless Italian soldiers who confessed that 

they didnôt wand that war against Greece 

By Christmas time and the beginning of the New Year 1941 the war operation progressed 

well n Greeceôs favor and people celebrated the armyôs victories one after the other 

By Christmas my dad had his shop back and resumed his normal work but nothing was 

the same any more. People werenôt spending money as before and by sunset everyone 

was at home. Several times during the day and at night the sirens sounded madly warning 

people for air raids and most at the times we stayed in our dump bunkers in our 

backyards waiting for the worst to happen.  

                 

                                
 

This is my replica of Mr Athanasios Hadjimarkos coffee house as it was in 1940. The 

left side of the building was being used as Community Office and the front from the 

militia security group 

 

The outcome of the war in the Albanian front was quite encouraging and every time the 

Greek army was capturing a village or a town there were celebrations with utmost 

enthusiasm all over the country. 
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On 29 of January news spread all over the country that the Prime Minister I Metaxas 

suddenly died. That came as a shock but people continued the struggle with the new 

Prime Minister Alexander Koryzis. 

Unfortunately the events slowly started turning sour when Hitler decided to direct the war 

operation towards the Balkan countries including Greece. 

Hitler wanted to clear off the shame of the defeated allied friend Benito Mussolini and to 

continue his operation to capture the North African countries like Libya etc to secure 

petrol supplies for his thirsty mechanize army 

Earlier he secured the alliance of Bulgaria to his Axis which caused a headache to Greece 

that this could ignite old feuds and hatred between the boarder populations. Bulgaria 

always wanted the annexation of Macedonia and Thrace to have access to the Aegean Sea 

and this was a good opportunity. 

 

                                       
 

              28 of October 1940 Greek troops storming the Italian front in Albania 

 

SECOND ALTIMATUM AND   

                                                          

Early in the morning on April 6 1941 the German Ambassador went to the new Prime 

Minister Alexander Koryzis and presented to him a note requesting to surrender or face 

the German Mighty Army 

The answer was the same as that of his predecessor; a net NO. As he was leaving he 

assured him that the Greek army and the People will defend Greeceôs land and stop the 

their invasion 

No other country in Europe had been attached by two superpowers simultaneously as 

Greece before  

The Germans as well as the Italians before they asked Greece to surrender on 6 April 

attacked Yugoslavia and two days later on the 8th of April they crossed the borders from 

Bulgaria through Koula to invade Greece but they found strong resistance and had heavy 

losses. Then they decided to bypass that road and to attack Greece from the Yugoslavian 

soil near the lake Doirani some 50 kilometers west which had no natural protection and 

was plain and no resistance 

The river Strimonas the road and the rail road are running parallel to the river and they 

pass between two mountains which were well fortified and after destroying several tanks 

and other vehicles the road became blocked and was impassible  
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Some days earlier rumors spread about the German invasion and there was a panic in the 

city of Thessaloniki and the extended area, for several days. 

I was watching the highway from our house the never ending columns of horse carts of 

civilians and some soldiers fleeing the city by all means of transport but mainly walking 

laden with their belongings and heading towards Athens. Some young people from our 

village joined them thinking that the Germans would do the same atrocities as the Turks 

did some years earlier in Smyrna. 

Our villagers who were victims of a previous war in Turkey feared the most and were in 

turmoil. They thought, if they were armed they would fight the Germans to the end but in 

the three settlements of four thousand inhabitants only two people had hunting shotguns 

 

 

                                       THE GERMANS IN OUR DOORSTEPS  

 

The distance from the boarders to Thessaloniki is approximately 60 kilometer and on the 

evening of April 8 the German Army camped on the opposite side of the river Gallikos 

and to test if there was any resistance they aimed shot and destroyed the house and shop 

of Mrs. Kastoura but luckily no one was in. 

The news about the Germans being that close forced the people to leave their homes and 

seek refuge in their small farm shacks out of the village. 

In a few hours, I remember, almost every one including my mother and sister flee the 

Village thinking that there would be safer five hundred meter away from the village. 

My father refused to leave his shop and the house and decided to stay guard. And so did 

I, I wanted to be with my dad whatever could have happened, even to die with him.  The 

village was like a ghost town and some dogs that refused to follow their masters started to 

bark as if they knew that something bad was going to happen 

After dark I went out and shut all the windows shutters and lighted the small kerosene 

lamp, dad tried to encourage me to stay calm telling me that the Germans will not hurt us. 

We had something to eat and after he went in the little store we had and from a coal 

containing barrel he brought a small clothed parcel, he unwrapped it and inside was a 

revolver with several bullets. He told me it was his and wanted to clean it with kerosene 

and have it ready in self defense. 

All that night we didnôt sleep fearing that in the morning we may not be alive, for the first 

time he was telling me war stories and events he experienced during the four years of war 

in Turkey. 

Similar stories Iôd heard hundreds of times in our coffee house from the elderly and in 

special gatherings at houses.  

Dad occasionally would go out to check and watch towards the Gallikos River and the 

small township app.1.5 kilometers away but it was dead silence and nothing was moving 

Thessaloniki with the high walls and the castles on the hills and the modern houses which 

six month ago was like an ornament in the Thermaikos bay with lights visible in to far 

distance now was dip in darkness and almost empty and uninhibited waiting in the 

morning to be submitted to the new masters. 
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April 9 1941  

Before sunrise from the kitchen window which faces the highway dad and I eagerly 

started watching towards Gallikos, and at last we saw a tricycle coming with one soldier 

in the side car having a machinegun and behind the driver a soldier carrying on his back a 

wireless. They passed from very short distance our house with direction to Thessaloniki. 

Immediately through the connecting door we went to the shop to have a better view 

towards the city and to Gallikos and we could see no other movement. 

Half an hour later we saw the tricycle returning and dad understood that they did a 

reconnaissance patrol to see if there was any resistance  

Ten minutes later the tanks begun rolling with their guns aiming towards us but not firing 

and that was a good omen. We saw the soldiers sitting on the tanks but there was no one 

on the side of the road to welcome them because of fear everyone had disappeared. 

When dad saw that they were quiet he suggested cutting some branches of our acacias 

trees, which were in full bloom, and offer to them as a gesture of friendliness and they 

were happy to accept them with cheers   

So we did, and we were the first on that day out there to meet the invading army. Soon 

after more people came out from hiding and within an hour the whole population lined up 

on the road to pseudo cheer them to be kind to us. 

 

          There is an English proverb saying 

                       ñIf you canôt beat them join themò   
                                          So did us, temporarily. 

 

THE OCCUPATION 
 

All day I sat between the wide strip of the two railroads opposite our shop which was like 

a sea of chamomiles and red poppies watching the endless columns of tanks and Lorries 

heading towards Thessaloniki and other places. Later we learned that the city officially 

handed over to German commander by the Mayor the Bishop and a General and the 

swastika flag rose on the White Tower, the symbol of the City  

In the same afternoon Germans notified the people of Thessaloniki that they came as 

friends and they asked people to open their shops and go to their jobs as nothing has 

happened. 

Many returned to their jobs and businesses and the farmers and gardeners to normal work 

now all under German administration with uncertainty future.  

While Thessaloniki was fallen to Germans a small Greek army unit withdrew to the 

narrow passage near the Mount Olympus blew up some bridges and held the Germans at 

bay causing considerable delay to their plan and casualties forcing them to retreat and 

follow other roads and tactics, 

Some other forces advanced and captured Berroia, Kozani and Larissa in central Greece 

and while the Greek army in those areas was giving unparallel fight the Albania front 

retreated and General George Tsolakoglou signed truce with the Germans without the 

Prime Ministers approval and the defense department. 

The Prime Minister Tsolakoglou couldnôt endure the situation and on 18 April 1941 took 

his own life. 
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 (Despite all this on the Greek-Bulgarian border near the village Poroia still was 

taking place heavy ground fighting and the Stukas planes were bombing the 

bunkers of Metaxa Lines. 

Sergeant Dimitrios  Itsios in bunker P8 and first lieutenant Christos Maroudis in 

machinegun post 158 with their stubborn soldiers were holding the Germans for 

three days until all ammunitions finished. Then the Germans stormed the bunkers 

and killed them all, they died like the Spartans)  

 

                                   (Extracted from the local historical archives) 

 

On 22 April the struggle now to hold the German fury was the narrow pass at 

Thermopylae, an ancient battleground where on 480 BC Leonidas with his 300 Spartans 

stopped the mighty Persian Army but at the end all killed like heroes. The same fate had 

the Greek Army with some British and Australian soldiers there. They hold them for a 

few days and finally on 27 April Athens fell to Germans and. Soon after the Swastika 

flag rose on the Acropolis opposite the Parthenon, a symbol of democracy and freedom. 

While the war went down south the Germans were busy coming to Thessaloniki and the 

surrounding area like ants in thousands with all sorts of transport camping in our front 

yard gardens and parking the tanks and trucks under the trees for camouflage. Iôd never 

seen such an army before. 

The soldiers were kind and well behaved and generally disciplined. They looked tired and 

weary and they wanted to take their shoes and socks off to wash their feet to rest and 

sleep. 

In front of the coffee shop there was a public water tap as there were in some other spots 

in the village where hundreds of soldiers formed a queue to have a half body shower 

Many of them proffered to have a drink of ouzo (schnapps) or a wine to relax and forget 

the war. 

I remember the beautiful farms opposite our coffee shop with fig and apricot trees. One 

day a horse transport division occupied and filled the properties with horses and carts 

laden with food and other staff. Apparently the horses were very hungry and within the 

two days the horses ate all branches and even the skin of the trunk. When they departed 

they left behind a lot of horse manure and piles of soldierôs shits all over the place 

Three months later all the trees were dead. Both manures didnôt help them at all. 

Another spectacular thing that impressed me and I havenôt forgotten was to watch those 

hundreds of planes flying over our heads towing two or three gliders full with 

paratroopers heading towards the island of Crete. Sometimes I couldnôt see the sky and 

the aircraftôs engine noise was worst than that of South African Vuvusellas    

 

        

                                                   THE BATLE OF CRETE 

 

Just before the collapse of Athens King George the 2nd and the Prime Minister Emanuel 

Tsouderos and some members of the Government flee to Crete to continue from there the 

struggle against the invaders. 
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In Crete the allied forces combined, British, Australians and New Zealanders numbered 

to about 31.000 with some 12.000 Greek soldiers and police who transported to defend 

the island. 

The undertaking to invade Crete started on 14 May 1941 first with heavy bombardments 

of the cities ports and army bases and on 20th of May they started to drop the specially 

trained paratroopers with parachutes bur it wasnôt that easy as they thought to be. 

Thousands of Cretan civilians of all ages joint to fight alongside the Greek army and the 

allies only with a few shot guns and the majority of them used shovels, forks, axes, sticks 

and stones. 

The Greek King, the Prime Minister, members of the government and great number of 

the Greek army and the allied forces withdrew to Egypt. 

 

                                  
                                                      The map of Crete 

 

The Cretan fighters with the remaining soldiers put an unparallel and heroic fight against 

the paratroopers killing 4.000 out of the 9.000 of them. Also the Germans lost 170 

airplanes and one division disintegrated. 

It is important to mention that this division the selected paratroopers and those thousands 

of planes were designated for the Russian Front and this delay surly cost them dearly and 

gave to Russians and the alliesô time to organize their strategy accordingly  

 Finally when they captured Hania, Rethymno and other strategic places on 30 May the 

whole island, mainland Greece and the other islands submitted to Germans. 

The Greeks lost the war but not their spirit and they determined to fight them back 

organizing guerrilla tactic war in the cities and elsewhere in the country. 

Soon after the occupation Greece was divided into three occupying forces, mainly by 

Germans but to satisfy their partners Italy and Bulgaria they appointed Italians to have 

under their administration the western part of Greece and Bulgaria the eastern part of 

Macedonia where there was a small minority of Bulgarians remnants from the Ottoman 

rule before 1912.  

The Bulgarian occupying forces with the cooperation of their ethnic people committed 

the most atrocities and forced most Greeks to leave their homes to the German side which 

was little safer. 

Among those who flee from their village Poroia to Thessaloniki abandoning everything, 

his wife and five daughters, was my wifeôs father who was in the death list of the 

Bulgarian militia. Some months later the remaining members of his family, with the help 

of the Bulgarian commander and under protection from reprisal from the local militia 

were driven under guard to the nearby town of Kilkis and later the family reunited in 

Thessaloniki. 
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In Thessaloniki and in the regional towns and particularly in Athens the Germans 

confiscated everything they needed for the army especially food and in a few weeks after 

the occupation people started to feel the pinch of hunger and the most affected places 

were the two big cities. We in villages were self sufficient producing food for ourselves 

to keep us alive    

People walked long distances to rich the villages carrying whatever valuable they had for 

little food and those who couldnôt do it would die on the side of the road or in the streets 

of the big city. 

 

The following is one of the many I remember 

(One warm day in June 1941; I  and some customers watched a young man carrying 

a huge wardrobe on his back approaching our coffee shop with difficulty. When he  

arrived under the trees he lowered the wardrobe and asked the people someone to 

buy it for a bread so to save his children dying from hunger. He wasnôt a local and 

we assumed that he walked some 10 kilometers from Thessaloniki. His plea touched 

everyoneôs heard. I felt so bad; I went with tears to tell my mum about the plight of 

this man. Immediately offer with bread, cheese and vegetables came from everyone 

and the wardrobe kept in storage to be returned to his home).  

 

Almost a month passed since the new masters set foot in our country and the first thing 

they did was to appoint a new Prime Minister of their choice G Tsolakoglou close friend 

and collaborator and the  impression of their kindness and friendliness  slowly started to 

disappear and day after day they were tougher on many issues  

The first thing they did when they came in our village was to take our school for their 

army and from 28 October 1940 none of the children went to school again until the end 

of the war in 1944. Next, they disable the rented Municipal office cutting the only 

telephone line and the exchange panel. 

Soon after that the owner wanted the room for his own use so the secretary Mr D. 

Papasotiriou requested from my father to provide a small portion of the coffee shop to be 

used as an office. He suggested that people who would come to the office could benefit 

his business. Dad thought that it was good idea and allowed the community office to 

operate from the coffee shop. 

 Although the office was responsible for three settlements with app 4.000 people the only 

thing was doing was to keep the birth, baptism, marriage and death records, also tax 

collecting according to productivity and it was one persons job . When the office started 

operating I was impressed by the type writer he had and the car battery operated radio 

which was the only one in the village and belonged to every one. 

I was very keen to learn how to type and to operate the radio and I ask my father to tell 

Mr Papasotiriou, since I donôt go to school, if he wanted me to become an office boy for 

free and he agreed to teach me about the office work. In a few days I learned how to type 

and I was doing copies of official documents etc, also in certain hours I would switch the 

radio for our customer to listen the news from BBC which was strictly forbidden by the 

Germans. Soon they found out and took it away. 
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                                     PROTECTION TO ALLIED SOLDIERS 

 

Already a month had gone and still I was watching our soldiers returning to their home 

riding on the German tanks, trucks and carts tired and weary. One good thing was that the 

Germans didnôt capture any Greek prisoners and allowed them to go to their families but 

they wouldnôt let go any British. 

One day a gentleman came and requested to talk to my dad in private. They went in the 

kitchen and in presence of my mum too they talked for several minutes. When he left 

they had a heated argument and I demanded to know what all was about. Dad told me 

that the man who talked to them wanted to bring three British soldiers for temporary 

protection from being caught by the Gestapo and the reason to bring them to our house 

was because dad spoke some English. It was very risky and dangerous attempt to harbor 

ñenemyò soldiers, had they found the punishment would have been on the spot execution 

of us and possible of many others. 

Next day after dark he arrived with three soldiers still in uniforms without hats but one of 

them was Indian with very dark skin who easily could be identified by the Germans since 

it was very rare to see a Greek of the same skin. The following day we dressed them with 

cloths similar to the locals and kept them hiding in one of our room without floor. The 

British who looked now like locals dad allowed them to sit and mingle with his 

customers who already they knew their identity but wouldnôt say anything even if they 

could die. The problem was the Indian who would come out from hiding only at night 

and walk for a few minutes in our back yard for exercise. We learned that  

A week later the same man came and took them away and then we learned that one of 

them was an Australian but no names and addresses were kept. 

A month later we learned that the three had a safe passage first to Athos Monasteries and 

from there to Turkey and later to Egypt  

 

A month later another dangerous episode happened with the allied prisoners. 

Every morning the Germans were guiding a group of British, Australians and New 

Zealander to do repairs jobs on the railways and they had to pass from our backyard 

garden where we had some fruit trees.  

One day apparently they were either very hungry or they liked to taste a fruit and they 

rushed to pick some rotten ones from the ground. While the guards were shouting insults 

to them my mum handed over to couple prisoners some good ones from the small kitchen 

window overlooking the garden. 

A guard when saw what she did rushed with his automatic gun ready to shoot her. She 

creamed and dad rushed from the shop to protect her. They had some argument and the 

officer in charge advising mum and dad not to give anything to prisoners     

   The war causes most of the time death, pain and suffering to people and on the other 

hand some people benefit and take advantage of it. As I mention earlier the occupation 

army estimated to be in many thousands mainly in the city of Thessaloniki and they 

needed every day to consume food and vegetables and those things could not be found 

there because the farmers stopped going to the whole sale markets, therefore the Germans 

went to the farmers to get what they wanted directly from them but this was not very 

practical. They thought the most appropriate way was to approach the community office 

and to put their order to the secretary. 
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This worked perfectly, once we had the order what they wanted the next day they could 

pick them up from the farm and paid cash on the spot whatever they asked. I was 

appointed to take the drivers and officers to particular farms for the pickup and often I 

was awarded with some tips. 

For the first time in their lives the farmers struck such a bonanza and managed to buy the 

necessary things for their families, they paid no agents merchants and transport expenses. 

And they were the lucky ones  

When the Germans occupied Thessaloniki they planed to expand the rail system which 

needed most. In the city there wasnôt enough space so they acquired a big slice of land 

(veggie gardens) of 4 kilometers and laid down 10 parallel railways alongside the two 

existing ones including giant work shops for the locomotives and headquarter for the staff 

restaurants and stores and second station in our village. 

For the construction of this project they brought from Germany special team of young 

army engineers and accommodated them in our school. Also for the project they 

employed thousands of people and also they drafted compulsorily without pay 20-40 

males every week from our villages through the community office. They were the 

unlucky ones 

                                                                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                     Anastasios Kolokotronis  

 

Mr. Georgeôs & Alkminis Sarris house on left and next on the right became the 

headquarters for the station masters. In the middle Mrs. Anastasias Ioanidis Grocery 

shop and on the right our coffee shop and house; the upper rail goes to Athens and 

Germany and the lower to Bulgaria and Turkey; all buildings now replaced with 

modern apartments 

  

I remember the winter of 1941 was the coldest ever recorded and despite that the project 

to finish the rail system early didnôt stop them a minute and by Christmas it was ready. It 

was a complex of railways also so big in importance with access to the port which 

considered the biggest in southern Europe.                                                                                                              
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Already the trains from Germany to Thessaloniki started operating from the first months 

of occupation. They fixed quickly the blown up bridges and guarded them well protecting 

also with antiaircraft guns 

Between our village and Thessaloniki which some months ago was farming and market 

gardening area mow became a jungle of railways and giant stores with ammunitions of all 

kinds  

At the stationôs rail yards at any time there were parked trains loaded with ammunition, 

tanks, torpedoes, aircraft bombs, aircrafts even submarines in sections and thousands of 

soldiers on transit    

We lived in fear now because we were number one target from the allied air raids and 

one night the siren sounded and all villagers flee couple of kilometer away. The allied 

(American) Air force attempted to bomb the station but they missed the target by fifty 

meter parallel to the trains and most bombs missed the target falling in sandy soil not 

exploded at all  

Hundreds of traders from Thessaloniki were selling and buying from the soldiers all sorts 

of things making good money. 

Once, despite of my dadôs refusal, I attempted to become a sales boy like my friend Fotis 

who was doing good business for pocket money selling packets of dry figs, sultanas and 

cigarettes and buying wrist watches, cameras, lighters and tin foods etc. 

So, I made a wooden tray with a lace to hang it around my neck, I filled it with my 

merchandise and strait ahead to the Station. 

In a few days I did booming business and my pockets filled with German Marks and 

owned for the first time a tiny Cida camera as big as a match box  a wrist watch and a 

German army short (very rare in those days)  

While everything was going well in my favor one day I struck trouble. 

A train arrived from Athens carrying soldiers, armored vehicles and tanks heading 

towards Yugoslavia and parked in the middle of the yard. Although it was illegal for the 

civilians to enter the parked trains everybody rushed passing under the carriages ignoring 

the danger of moving trains to sell their merchandises. I was one of them who struck a 

hard customer. 

As I was shouting to advertise what I was selling a German soldier came out of his 

armored vehicle and bought two packets of sultanas and paid me what I asked. His right 

hand was in bandage hanging from his neck and looked sad. As I turned around to leave 

he called me back and asked how much I wanted for everything I had (cigarettes, figs and 

sultanas). I asked him less of what they were worth and he agreed to buy them all. 

I put them on the carriage and he took them up in to his tank and didnôt show up.  

I climbed up and started to shout at him to come out and pay me calling him thief and 

other names which sure irritated him and made him to jump out with intention to harm 

me. 

I jumped from the carriage and run for my life towards home in tears. On the way home I 

met Carl Shlitzer a station master officer who was going to start his shift and curiously he 

asked me why I was crying for. 

I told him that a German soldier bought two things and has stolen the rest of my stock. 

I understood that he didnôt like the accusation Iôve made that ña German soldier has 

stolen my stockò apparently upset him, his pride 

 



 26 

                                             
      

This is Carl Shlitzer photographed opposite the harbor of Thessaloniki in 1944 and he 

gave this photo to my father some days before the German Army departed from Greece. 

My father asked him to stay back for his safety and refused. When the reached 

Yugoslavia Titoôs partisans captured them and put them in prison camps in Zagreb. He 

wrote to us asking to send him tobacco or cigarettes and we did. He was very friendly 

with all villagers as the other staff and helped in anyway he could the people. He also 

baptized a girl while he served at the Station. Generally all the staff was protecting our 

village from the Greek collaborators 

He asked me to go with him and indicate the carriage where the soldier took my sultanas 

and figs. 

As far as I remember the military station masters were the bosses at the station and they 

had the upper hand and controlled everything there 

I didnôt want to go but he insisted to find that thieve. 

I followed him and we went strait to the carriage and showed him where he was. He then 

with a loud voice shouted ñWho is the soldier who took cigarettes, figs and sultanas 

from a boy and didnôt pay to come forward immediately. 

 Without repeating his words the soldier jumped out from the cabin he saluted him in 

Nazi style and admitted paying only for the two and not for the rest. Karl asked him to 

pay for the rest, if not to return the unpaid ones to me.  

I saw him being embarrassed in front of his fellow soldiers. He went back in to his tank 

and handed over the stolen articles to me and apologized for his behavior.  

Karl climbed on the carriage and talked to him privately and wrote something in his note 

book. After that I went home happily never to go again to that station but without giving 

up the trading. 
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I followed some older ones and Fotis his brother Alekos and I switched station which was 

safer and with less traders  

Not far away from our place was the station of Lahanokipos where the trains coming 

from Bulgaria to Thessaloniki would stop to get water supply for the locomotives. The 

train escorting staff always were bringing with them sugar, candies other sweets and 

cigarettes which were rare in Greece and the most wanted stuff and were sold in the 

(black market) illegally with good profit. That was the stuff we were buying and selling 

to others  

As a 13 year old boy with no school to go because they were taken by the German Army 

I was working sometimes as an office boy when needed me, small merchant for pocket 

money, and helping my dad at his coffee shop and some farming at our farm;  

While some people had enough food to survive others had nothing and would die from 

hunger. People were walking long distances to find any food and because there were 

uncertainty people in villages who had some food would hide and protect them for their 

own families but in extreme circumstances they would help children and frail people and 

still in the big cities the Red Cross was collecting every day tens of dead bodies from the 

streets  

In 1941 my motherôs two close middle age male relatives walked from Athens some 450 

kilometers to our village to avoid dieing there from hunger, it was the hardest hit place in 

Greece was Athens. They found accommodation in the nearby house but my mother was 

providing to them a simple soup (trahana) with some bread. 

The most tragic scene which some of our customer and I witnessed was when one warm 

day in June we were watching a young man walking on the highway and was tripling  as 

if he was drunk and suddenly he collapsed on the side of the road. Couple of people ran 

including me to see what happened. He was very skinny and pale and hardly was 

breathing. I ran to call the German doctor of the station masters who responded quickly 

but on arrival he declared him dead. Sure he felt sorry. He would be alive if it wasnôt for 

them. Later in the city Iôd seen more similar scenes and felt sick. 

 

The sad German sergeant 
 

The German occupation was well established and they were busy coming in thousands. I 

was impressed watching them how well organized army they had; even when they were 

on the move they could cook on the two and four wheels trailer kitchen which towed by 

trucks. 

Our village except the permanent stuff of the Railway Station officers had always a unit 

at the school and often thousand of others stationed to rest for a few days 

It must have been the end of August the five vines in front of our shop were full of black 

and white grapes hanging over our heads and easy to reach them by stepping on a chair 

and they were available only for our customers, 

Most soldiers and officer spent money to drink which was good for dad. 

One afternoon about eighty soldiers and officers happy for their victories all over the war 

fronts were drinking singing and celebrating happily with couple of accordions and 

shouting Hail Hitler Russia caput English caput and America caput 
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After 11pm I started sweeping the shop and stacking the chairs and the tables inside when 

a middle age soldier walked in and asked dad to drink ouzo. He excused himself being 

late and he said he was stationed at the school and came for a quick drink  

He stood at the bar drinking smoking and looking at some pictures he took out from his 

wallet and seemed to be sad and upset. 

When I finished my job I shut the door I said ñgood nightò to the soldier and dad and 

through the small door from the bar I went to see mum and went straight to bed. 

According to dad this soldier after having few drinks and being almost drunk he opened 

his heard and started to tell dad the drama of his life, 

He said that earlier in the after noon he had a personal and direct wireless call from 

Adolph Hitler who told him that he is a proud father because his two sons gave their lives 

in the same day for Germany; Hitler informed him about their heroism; one who was 

stuka plane pilot was shot down ay the Russian front and the other naval officer in a 

submarine which was hit and sunk in the Atlantic Ocean. 

Dad expressed his sympathy and tried to comfort him but instead he became abusive and 

nasty, he pulled his sword out and demanded from dad to put the light from the tiny 

kerosene lamp off. 

He knew now that he had a problematic customer with bad intension; on his belt on one 

side he had a pistol and on the other side a sword and easily he could use one of them and 

finish dad off. 

Dad was 2.20 meters tall and strong but he wouldnôt dare to set hand on a German soldier 

He was trying to calm him down but he wasnôt compromise. 

While this commotion was taking place at the bar mum was watching through the small 

door gap and worried  

Without asking dad she ran one block from our house to warn Niko Terzoglou who was 

appointed by the Germans as an official to guard the abandoned guns, small cannons and 

ammunitions of the Greek army about the incident. 

Meanwhile when dad saw that his life was in danger he acted quickly; he distracted him 

to look towards the main door and quickly put the light off, he grabbed him from behind 

and took his belt off and disarmed him and took him out; at the same time Niko arrived 

who took his belt and together took him to his base at the school 

To disarm a German soldier was a serious offence and the penalty could have been death 

but he had no choice and the excuse to do this was to defend himself from drunken 

soldier  

Next day where I was preset this time helping dad in a warm afternoon again there was 

another big party celebrating for more victories somewhere in Russia and the patriotic 

songs could be heard as far as Thessaloniki and beyond.  

Among the crowded soldiers there was one who was sitting all by himself and not 

participating with the others at the festivity. 

Dad recognized him but he didnôt want to go and talk him in case he would get upset 

again; heôd drank a bottle of ouzo and didnôt pay anything but dad didnôt care about 

money. 

At the bar two officers were drinking and having conversation in English and asking 

question to dad about America and why he left America etc. And dad to make them 

happy he was telling them that America was a shit country and ridiculed the Yankees to 

make then laugh. 
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Some time later he asked them if they knew that lonely soldier who was sitting apart from 

the others and they said they knew and also they told dad about his misfortune with his 

two sons  

Dad told the officer about what happened the previews night with him his behavior and 

the threat he made to harm him. 

The officers astound and couldnôt believe what dad was telling them; so one of them 

went out and brought him in and asked him to tell what happened the previous night. 

Before he start talking he pulled out his wallet and asked dad how much he owed for the 

drinks and started his apologies with hugs and tears coming from his eyes. It was a 

moving moment looking at this unfortunate father asking forgivingness from dad and the 

officers. 

Dad not only didnôt accept money from him bud gave him a bottle of ouzo to drink it in 

moderation to calm his sorrow and after that they became good friends never to see him 

again. 

 

My close friends 
 

In fact all the kids in our village were friends of mine and I knew every one including 

their parents and grand parents; it was a close society and even we were related amongst 

us from closed to distance relatives with mutual respect and cooperation in every aspect 

of life  

In particular my closest friends in the village were; Nikos hadjimarkos, Fotis 

Diamantopoulos, Michalis Kourtidis Kon Rahmanidis and Theophilos Giamoukis. 

 We went to school together before the war and after and like all kids we experienced the 

bad war years and later the better times as youths and adults. 

With Niko since those childhood years and until now who now lives for many years in 

USA with his family we have daily contact with e-mails and video link and we talk about 

the old times. It is worth to mention that our mothers were close friends in Mouradiye 

Turkey before they flee from there. 

 

The non return journey of the Jewish  
 

The Jewish people didnôt have their own country for many centuries and were spread in 

many other countries and were minorities and most of the times theyôve been 

discriminated against 

The Jewish community in Thessaloniki before the liberation in 1912 from the Ottomans 

was considered to be the largest one after the Turks. This is because couple of centuries 

before the Spaniards expelled most of the Jews who decided to take residence in 

Thessaloniki where they were free to exercise more freely their religion and their 

occupations. 

After 1912 and until 1922 the Greeks acceded in numbers and after many centuries under 

Turkish domination Greeks had a free and independent nation. 

This until The Germans, Italians and Bulgarians invaded our country by force and 

inflicted suffering destruction and death to many innocent people. 

The most affected community in Greece and in other countries as I know were the Jewish 

people and I will write here what Iôve seen and remember vividly until now . 



 30 

Before the war Thessaloniki was a city with divers life of many nationalities and all lived 

peacefully and in harmony. My father was doing business with Jewish, Armenians and 

other nationalities; even I knew a lot of their kids and played with them, 

The Jewish that most of them were in businesses were prosperous and hold the light and 

heavy industry in their hands and everything was running smooth with no unemployment 

and hardship  

I remember the fruit and vegetable merchants coming to our village and buying in 

advance the fruit trees when still they were in blooming period. They knew exactly how 

much fruit the tree would produce; and just before the harvesting time they would come 

with their families and camp under their rented tree ready to pick the ripped fruit for the 

market 

The largest populated area was near the old railway station close to the CBD and the 

industrial area and their houses were well build and maintained. The more affluent 

society lived in luxury houses alongside the Queen Sofiaôs Parade and close to the sea 

side. 

Most businesses shopping malls transportations and the industry run by the Jewish 

community. Also they had their own schools and Synagogues and generally they were 

very peaceful and law abiding people. 

 

 

 

  

                          
                                                                             Anastasios Kolokotronis 

 

This is a replica Iôve made by memory of a Jewish horse cart specially made to carry 

heavy materials; wine casks tobacco or wool bales timber etc. It had small wheels and 

no springs and could make on the spot turn and was about five meters long  

 

 When the Germans occupied Greece six months later they put their evil plan to round up 

every Jew with fault pretence and well planned propaganda that all Jews will be 

repatriated for their own good to Germany. They would be given houses and farms send 
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their children to schools and all sorts of promises. Although I was young I could 

understand why they should believe all these crap when already they had all they 

promised them here in Thessaloniki.  

The man appointed for that was Max Merten; chief commandant of Thessaloniki  

The first thing they did was to fence with barbwire all the Jewish area with two big gates 

and install every several meters an armed guard and every person had in his/her left arm a 

yellow band with star of David. They allowed only one person from a family to go out 

with special permit 

This was an indication of bad omen and most of then didnôt react. Could they?  And those 

who lived in other areas brought them all in one place and virtually they were under 

arrest as prisoners 

I remember when my dad approached some of his Jewish friends and suggested to them 

to escape and join the guerrilla resistance group but they refused fearing for reprisal to 

their families. 

Finally in the middle of 1942 they started transporting them to Germany and as we 

learned then to various concentration camps. 

Every day 4-5 train loads of human cargos in animal carriages with locked doors and an 

armed guard on the step of every wagon was passing only meters away from our house-

shop.  

In sheering hot of the summer the only available air to breath was the small and narrow 

window high near the roof. Every time I could see faces of despair shouting to us ñGood 

byeò as if they were going to recreational holidays. I am sure the mature people knew 

something about. 

In many occasions they threw from the little windows childrenôs dolls pocket watches, 

hats and other personal items. Children and I sometimes would ran alongside the train 

asking them to throw us anything they could 

 

                
 

1942 during the German occupation we used to sit under the thick shade of the acacia 

trees opposite our and Nikos house and watch the German trains carrying the human 

cargos of Jewish people to concentration camps 
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This operation lasted several months until they took them all where they wanted to take. 

There were some individuals who flee and joined the guerrillas and survived and some 

others who were sheltered by Greek families out in the remote villages pretended to be 

Greek nationals. 

We the Greeks were little luckier than the Jews. They didnôt get war prisoners but later 

during the resistance years they executed thousands and burned down hundreds of towns 

and villages as revenge.  

 

The black spider  
 

In Greece there are no poisonous spiders and as far as we remember there wasnôt any 

spider bite that caused any death in the country but sometimes someone experiences such 

a discomfort and that was me. 

It was June 1943; for a few days I volunteered to go to Nikos potato farm and help to dig 

out and gather potatoes for the Germans. It was about 4 kilometers away from the village 

and on the other side of the Galikos River   

 

                
 

              Nikos Hadjimarkos horse cart which used to carry people and produce 
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                                                                                    Anastasios Kolokotronis 

 

Here are two miniature replicas of carts; a donkey cart and horse cart similar of the 

above. 

 

Usually work started before sunrise to avoid the hot blistering summer day; and by 11 am 

we had long break for lunch and we started again in the afternoon when fresh breeze 

started to blow. 

During the break we had for lunch water melon, melon or grapes with home made bread 

and cheese tomatoes and almost all the vegetables and fruits and before we start work we 

would go for a swim in the crystal clean water of the river with the silvery sand   

The digging and the lifting of the sacks was done by the adults and the picking and the 

selection of the potatoes by the children 

One day just before lunch I sat on my right foot in the sandy field sorting potatoes; 

I felt something pinching me near my ankle; I thought it was grass and I moved my foot 

again and I felt another pinch and couple of times more. 

I stood up to see what sort of grass it was and to my surprise I saw a black spider back 

side down and squashed; I picked a potato and killed it and told uncle John and the other  

about the bite. He laughed telling me and to others that such spiders are in thousands in 

the field and they are not harmful 

 

                                                     
 

                 This is how the spider looked (in Greek is Epeira or cross spider) 
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When a minute passed I told everyone that I was feeling dizzy. They asked me to go and 

lay under the tree to rest but my legs were almost paralyzed and couldnôt get up and my 

vision started to get blurry; I was feeling like passing away and let myself on the dirt and 

lost consciousness. 

As I was told couple of days later they all panicked; they took me quickly under the trees 

near the shack and tried to revive me with cold water but I wasnôt responding so they put 

me on the cart and harnessed the horse and took me strait home to mum and dad; when 

they saw me paralyzed they thought I was dead and started to scream for help. Uncle 

doctor George who was living with us then came to see me but couldnôt help the situation 

because he didnôt have any medicines and it was a case unknown to him; so 

Dad rushed to ask help from the German doctor who was opposite us with the Station 

Masters. Uncle George who was German educated explained to him what happened and 

quickly went back and came with his medical case and as I learned he gave me an 

injection and other medicines. 

I gained consciousness 36 hours later and I saw that I was home and next to me I saw the 

German captain whom I knew he was a doctor. He stayed all night with me to follow my 

progress. 

When I was able to walk he gave us reference letter to be admitted to the Theageneio 

Hospital in Thessaloniki for complete recovery; he even took us on the road stopped a 

coal operating Greek truck with other people on it and asked the driver to take us to 

Hospital since there wasnôt any other transport. 

Some three hundred meter farther down there was a team of armed Greek collaborators 

with the German forces who were checking the civilians for their travel permits to and 

from Thessaloniki; apart that they were taxing anything they liked in fact they were 

unauthorized thieves and robbers. 

When they asked from dad our travel permit he said he didnôt have one but he had a letter 

from the German doctor to take me to hospital  

They didnôt recognize the doctorôs letter and they ordered us to come down from the 

truck and bring an official travel permit. 

Slowly and disappointed we walked back home; as we were walking alongside the 

railway he saw us from the balcony and came down quickly to find out why we didnôt go 

to hospital; when we told him the Greek security donôt recognize your letter he went 

berserk. 

He asked us to wait for him. He came out in his official uniform with three other all with 

their pistols in the holsters and asked us to follow them. 

I scared when I saw them angry I thought they may go to kill them 

When they arrived there he went to talk to them and apparently he asked them if they 

were authorized by the German commandant to have a check point. Sure they didnôt have 

and demanded to vacate their post immediately 

After all this trouble he took us himself to hospital with a German vehicle     

  I am sure he saved my life. If it wasnôt for him perhaps I could have been dead or 

permanently paralyzed. Always I remember him with gratitude and often helped our 

villagers whenever they asked his help 
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Generally all the Railway Station staff in the two housed they occupied were very 

friendly and dads regular customers like Mantin the cook and Carl. 

 

Cheating soldiers 
 

We say that under the military uniform dress all sorts of personalities are hidden and it is 

hard to identify who is good person and who is not all look alike. 

One day a group of about 15 marines came to our café to dine; they liked the staffed 

tomatoes and green peppers not with rice because rice had disappeared but with bulgur 

which tasted good the way mum cooked them; they had tasted couple of days earlier and 

they ordered the same meal. 

They sat out under the trees with many others who were drinking and singing and inside 

were several higher ranking officers eating some of the same dish and others mousaka 

and it was crowded atmosphere. 

As I was serving other soldiers I noticed that all accept two had gone. I asked those two 

to pay me for the meals. They agreed they said ya ya and they asked me to brink them 

two more ouzo to pay me. As soon as I went in for the ouzo they disappeared. I asked the 

other marines who were next to them and they told me they didnôt now them. 

I looked in dark to identify them but they were too many of them; I went strait to tell dad; 

he went out in panic but they had gone  

Dad blamed me I blamed him and upon this argument an officer came to intervene and 

asked dad what was all this argument about. 

Dad told the officer that a group of 15 marines ate, drank and left without paying. 

The officer asked dad to give him the bill  whatever it was and told him that he knew them 

all very well and he would collect the money in double with some proper disciplines 

Dad refused to accept his money telling him that it was not his fault for the bad behavior 

of some irresponsible soldiers. 

He explained to dad that they were not pure Germans but from other small occupied 

countries as volunteers. 

He paid dad and apologized on behalf of the cheating soldiers and didnôt see them again. 

I remember in those few days that the marines stayed there; next to our shop there was a 

long big caravan which was used as a pay office. 

A few days later I noticed that it was not only pay office but also they were printing 

money as well specially for the German army in Greece. 

We were wondering why most soldiers had money in abundance and yet some would 

cheat. 

 

They were not printing only German money as they wished but also the German 

appointed Greek Government was doing the same.  

Within three years theyôd printed unimaginable amount of notes and the inflation reached 

the zenith; to think; to buy bread we had to carry a bundle of notes. 

I will display one note of five million drachmas which would buy packet of cigarettes 
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This is one side of a Greek Bank note printed in 1944 and it was the smallest of the 

250.000.000 which was the highest  
 

        
         

                                          This is the other side of the same note 

  

 

When the war ended we had in our house about four sacks of paper notes which we used 

them to start fire because they were invalid any more. 

 

The transportation 
 

The public transport for the civilians was limited because of lack of petrol and people 

traveled restricted always obtaining in advance special permit from the local authorities. 

There were no trains, buses or taxis but only horse drawn carts and walking. Some times 

the German drivers would pick up some travelers with pay when they knew they will not 

be checked. 

In our village people used mostly the horse carts or they would walk the nine kilometers 

distance to the city of Thessaloniki and on the way back it was easy to find some 
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gardeners returning home from the market empty and they would pick up the fellow 

villagers free of charge. 

During that period the Germans had a small locomotive train with 3-4 carriages which 

every morning was leaving from the cityôs central station with railway maintenance 

workers to drop them off in various stations for the days work; the workers called that 

train (Balle)  

While the workers were coming off the train; travelerôs men women and children would 

jump in illegally to travel for free to do their shopping or business in the city. The return 

trip was a non stop one and in the afternoon the same train would pick them up and take 

them back home. 

One day dad sent me to go downtown to buy ouzo in two ten liters bottle containers. 

When Balle stopped at our station and the workers alighted from the carriages I jumped 

in with some fifty other clandestine and enjoyed the trip to the next station. During the 

trip I made plans to go to the cityôs beach and enjoy a nice swim. 

When the train stopped at the Lahanokipos station and left there the last workers instead 

of going back to Thessaloniki continued full steam some twenty kilometers farther out of 

the station and stopped in the middle of nowhere  

To our surprise we saw half a dozen armed soldiers coming down from the locomotive 

ordering us with the automatic guns aiming on us to come out and walk into the fields 

and away from the train. 

We all thought that they will shoot us and panicked. As soon as we walked away the train 

left us there and headed back to Thessaloniki with the Germans laughing at us and doing 

dirty gestures. This was a revenge punishment for using illegally their train. 

It took us (the young ones) about six hours to walk our way back home empty handed 

and tired; after that neither I nor the others attempted to use the Balle.       
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The map of the region of Thessaloniki and the Thermaikos gulf; the doted black lines 

are the rail system which the bottom left goes to Athens, the middle to Yugoslavia and 

the right to Bulgaria and Turkey. 
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Autumn 1942 this picture of a German battleship anchored in the port of Thessaloniki 

were given by a German naval officer to my father. He was born from German parents 

in USA but; when he went to Germany in 1939 to visit his relatives he was trapped 

there and drafted to serve in the navy. 

He would come every day to our shop to drink and meet my dad to have some 

conversation in English about America etc. Dad was always cautious when he was 

making negative comments against Hitler and the war.  

On the background is visible the eastern part of the city  

 

 

This battleship; I remember was anchored for a while at the port of Thessaloniki to 

protect the port the rail station and other German bases. It was the biggest ship we ever 

had seen before. 

It was heavily armed with large cannons and antiaircraft guns 

Before winter sailed towards the North African shores 

 

Back to school 
 

Since the Greek-Italian war started in October 28 1940 I never step a foot to a school and 

I was really frustrated thinking that I will grow to be an illiterate for the rest of my life. 

Couple of my friends went to high school in Thessaloniki and although they had classes 

every second day and tree hours only it was better than nothing. 

Often I was grumbling to my parents to send me to high school instead of wasting my 

valuable time selling things to German soldiers and working in the community office 
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waiting from people to give me a tip for doing favors. Even Mr Mitso the secretary 

encouraged dad to do something before it was late. 

So; one day he went to Thessaloniki to meet his first cousin Elizabeth and her daughter 

Katina who was a high school teacher if they would rent a room for me and if Katina 

agreed to tuition me for the exams in September. 

They were more than happy to do this because before the war every summer the 

weekends they would spend it with us enjoying the lifestyle of the villagers and also 

meeting old friends and other relatives from Mouradyie. 

Aunty Elizabeth prepared a room with an iron bed a small table with uneven legs and 

wooden chair near the store. 

The first night I had a massive attack from blood sucking bugs and couldnôt sleep at all 

and my back legs and chest was red from the bites. 

In the morning I went to show the bites to my aunty and she told me not to worry and to 

make sure that I will not have another night like that I slept  a few night under the tree 

because it was summer and the nights were warm until we disinfected the room  and the 

bed with kerosene. 

I liked this change of life in the city because I had all the time to enjoy swimming. Joy 

riding on the back and on the side steps of the trams; one day my luck ran out when a 

policeman grabbed me from my shirt and took me strait to the police station where there 

were some more kids for the same sin and others for thefts. They took our names and 

after they whipped us several times on the buttock and legs and let us go with a warning; 

if we do the same mistake the punishment will be harsher. So I learned my lesson well  

Every lunch time my three cousins and I would go to get from the Universityôs students 

club meal with coupons which we had them from Katrinaôs fiancé who was in charge of 

the meal distribution to students and always he would give us several coupons to feed 

twenty people; usually the meal was soups with vegetables and never with meat but my 

mother would brink me twice better food from the village; eggs; chicken; milk; butter and 

bread.  

Aunty Elizabeth, a short and fat lady, would ask me to do various jobs around the house 

and the garden. Having had some knowledge about gardening I prepared a small plot and 

planted some vegetables and build a chook house and always she was sending me to 

bring water from the public tap couple of hundred meters away water in the buckets for 

the garden and for the house need, this would take almost 4-6 hours because the water 

was running so slow that the tins, buckets and other water containers were lined up for 

several meters on the side of the street for their turn to be filled with water. Meanwhile I 

would go to play with other kids or go altogether to climb on the back or on the side steps 

of the tram for a joyride  

Katina the high school teacher was putting every afford to tuition me on the subjects I 

was needed to pass but it was impossible for me to learn all of them and my hope was to 

get some help from John Kourtidis who was one of the examiners at the 3rd High school 

of Thessaloniki. 

This school wasnôt taken by the Germans because was very old and unsafe for the Army. 

When the time arrived for the exams I was trembling like a dog. I was feeling as if I was 

going to be executed, but, earlier my dad spoke to John and he came to help me a little 

and to calm me. 
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When the results came out I learned that Iôve had passed with 11, 25 out of 20. For me it 

was great achievement to go back to school and for Katina too but for the cousins Lela, 

Ioulia and Irene who never interrupted their studies from their school I was regarded as 

an uneducated 

 

                                                   
 

                          A narrow street in the Kamara district of Thessaloniki 

                           

                             
 

The ancient Roman arch (Kamara) the gate to the city of Thessaloniki which was 

within the tall walls. The tram were my favored for joy riding  

 

                                                                       

In September when we started school I didnôt let myself to be eaten by the bed bugs again 

at their place, I went with my good friend Theophilos to share with him a room with no 

beds but with a table and two chairs close to the school, the room was large and we slept 

on a hay mattress on the floor. 
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Although food was scarce during the war our mothers would bring us every Sunday fresh 

food from the village. Theophilosôs family also owned cows and they produced cheese 

butter and ricotta and we had them in abundance. 

In particular the ricotta was always fresh and we had to hang the bag outside on the tree 

branch to strain it but one day the cats and the dogs and probably thieves took the whole 

bag: then we had to hang it in the room but we adjusted it the drops from the bag to go 

through a floor hole in to the basement to avoid the smell, two weeks later we had mice 

all over the place. 

The school was overcrowded. In a city of half a million people only three schools were in 

operation, the German Army took all the others So we had school every other day and 

only half day which made it difficult to learn under those conditions. During our free time 

we would play or walk in the narrow streets of Thessaloniki to discover new places to 

make new friends and to play machine soccer games at the local clubs and at night we 

would go to listen and admire from the street the singer and bouzouki player Tsitsanis at 

a tavern close by to our neighbored hood. 

Theophilos and I grew up in the same village and we were good friends but couple of 

months later his sister and older brother moved in and my father found a new place for 

me. He asked me to stay with the family of his Armenian friend Semertzian. 

I wasnôt very happy to live with people of differed culture but I had no choice. I stayed 

for two weeks and I was very disappointed with their way of life. They were eating so 

much garlic that the strong smell would make me to suffocate and after that much garlic 

they had consumed I was appalled to hear every few minutes their loud farts with awful 

smell  

I went back home and decided to go to school walking or asking a lift from our villager 

who were traveling to and from the towns market every day or hopping in to the railway 

workers train ( the Bale) illegally as many people did with little risk to be caught by the 

Germans  

The distance to walk to the school was approximately 10 kilometers and I could cover the 

distance in two hours, so, I had to I had to hit the road earlier than 6 oôclock in the 

morning to arrive just before 8am and then after school I had to walk again or to find any 

of the transports since there were no public transport during the war in many places. 

One day dad asked me to take with me the 20 liters empty glass container and bring some 

ouzo for the shop. I went to the station and when the train arrived with the maintenance 

workers and came out of the carriages all the illegal rushed in to the wagons and we 

looked happy, but. 

Instead the train to go towards the city went to the opposite way and stopped thirty 

kilometers away in a deserted place. Suddenly from one of the front carriage which had 

to doors closed a dozen armed German soldiers jumped out and ordered all of us under 

gunpoint to come down and walk towards the farms away from the train. 

Everybody thought that they will shot us. We walked away in fear and as soon as we 

were in some distance from the train the bastards jumped in the front carriage with 

laughterôs and the train left backwards quickly towards the city living us in nowhere to 

make us walk back to the village. 

It took me almost 6 hours to arrive home empty handed and no school as for some elderly 

was a torture to make it back (They taught us a lesson). 
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Despite the hardship I was experiencing then I was determined to go to school rather than 

doing nothing. This agitated my friend Fotis and started showing some interest to follow 

my steps. His father had a café and was well educated who served in the police and also 

he was elected as mayor for a number of years and their shop was near the station and 

handy for the horse carts travelers.  

In the middle of the school year his father managed to enroll him to the same high school 

I was in and I was happy to have my friend Foti with me at school. We walked for a few 

days together but he didnôt like walking at all. So his dad bought us a bicycle with solid 

rubber wheels to go to school faster but that was slower than walking because of the bad 

and rough road. We used it for a week and our bums were red with injuries that made us 

even difficult to walk. Fotis was not happy and he gave it away quickly living me again 

alone. 

 

The ñmassò execution 
 

I continued going to school two and tree times a week mostly by foot hitting the road 

early in the morning. One morning in the spring of 1943 wasnôt to be for me a happy day. 

As I left home and walked for a kilometer near the road junction to Kilkis I saw several 

army trucks on the side of the road and just before to approached them some German 

soldiers they made sign to me to stop. I stopped and curiously I was watching all the 

movements and noticed that from the trucks were coming out civilians in a row five at the 

time as if were tight one to another heading towards in front of an excavated hill  and I 

didnôt now why. 

Meanwhile a man with an oxen cart arrived who was ordered to stop too and asked me 

why they donôt allow us to go. I told him I didnôt know 

There were about ten trucks an app. forty soldiers and about fifty civilians standing in a 

line. 

Suddenly a barras of machinegun noise and smoke covert the scene; when the smoke 

cleared we couldnôt see the civilians any more. The man on the oxen cart angrily said 

ñthe bastards executed our peopleò  

Quickly the trucks and the soldiers left accept one  

I walked and I passed the place of execution hurriedly looking on my left; half a dozen 

soldiers with shovels were burying the dead bodies. 

I was very distressed and upset but I went to school about 40 minutes late. I entered the 

classroom apologizing to the teacher and to my classmates for being late. 

Apparently my face was pale sowing grimaces. The teacher questioned me what was 

wrong with me. Then I explained to them in tears what Iôd seen on the way to school near 

the Kilkis junction and they wouldnôt believe me. John (the teacher) took me in the office 

and told the headmaster about the incident and immediately he released me to go home. 

I took the same route because there was not any other and walking like a tired old man 

thinking why they killed those men? What they had done? 

When I approached the execution place I saw two men, I went closer and saw they were 

middle age men sitting on the mass grave crying for their loved sons. They told me that 

all men were captured in farms and villages and jailed in reprisal because the guerrillas 

somewhere near Mount Olympus ambushed the German convoys and for every one 
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German killed those executed ten Greeks and they would do it almost in full view of the 

public as a deterrent to stop the attackers. 

I shared their sorrow crying with them and left to go home and tell it to my parents and 

the people in the village. The news reached the village quickly and everyone was upset. 

This was my last day at school. I didnôt want to go to school any more. I wasnôt 

psychologically fit to learn and absorb even those six hours a week lousy lessons they 

taught to us. I was tired walking 20 kilometers every time. I was traumatized forever. 

 

My mother and father didnôt like me staying away from school but under those 

circumstances they were happy for me to work at the community office, which housed in 

the coffee house as an apprentice and help dad in the coffee shop in busy times and at our 

farm whenever needed. 

I accepted their proposal hoping one day the war would finish and everything will be 

again normal. 

 . 

The trip to Veria 
 

After that awful spider experience and other adventures I spent time working at the 

Community Office helping mum and dad at the shop without any pay but sometimes I 

would accept small tips. 

One day. At the end of August my mother told me that she and I had to take a trip to 

Veria, a large country town 70 kilometers north west of Thessaloniki to visit her first 

cousin Panayotis. 

I met Panayotis some years earlier. He was a short man with blue eyes strait hair and 

quite smart with good education in Greek and Turkish and I knew he had leading role in 

the resistance organization of EAM sympathizers to communist party. 

Mum told me that we had to go by train because by road there was strict control by the 

Greek security and she wanted to avoid them for some reason  

I was curious to know why suddenly we decided to go there and by train and I never 

found out but I was suspicious that mum had something to do with the resistance. I didnôt 

care much and what I cared was to see the town and meet my cousins and have good time 

We boarded the train from the central station and with several stops, almost in every 

station we arrived in Verria. The station is quite far from the town but my uncle, aunty 

and the three cousins were at the station waiting for us. Next to the station and in fact 

opposite was uncles farm and we walked strait there and under the shade of the trees we 

sat to rest. I was very excited and as soon as I became acquainted we went to see the 

nearby big river to catch some craps from under the stones. 

Just before sunset we boarded the long spring less horse cart and headed home through 

the main road. This was the business area with all sorts of old shops alongside the street. 

Uncleôs house was an old double story Turkish house with a large verandah three 

bedrooms and a kitchen and the ground floor, as usual, was the stable for the horse, the 

donkey and other animals. They were part of their life and depended on them for their 

livelihood and looked after them as themselves. 

Couple of days later I met several kids in the neighborhood but I noticed they were little 

reserved towards me and some of them kept me in distance. I asked my cousin to explain 

me why they treat me with suspicion. 
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He solved my curiosity when he told me that; most adults in the town, which was near the 

mountain and the liberation army of ELAS was members of the resistance and belonged 

to EAM and the youths to EPON and all were well organized to fight the Germans for the 

liberation of Greece. 

I knew about these organizations but in our village we had not involved officially yet 

with these organizations because the location was not suitable. 

Cousin John who was a leader talked to his mob that I was trusted and soon I been 

surrounded by many of them. They wended to know about me and the town of 

Thessalonica and quickly everyone liked me 

Verria was build on the foot of the mountain Vermion and the highway was passing 

through the town connecting Kozani and Athens through rough and winding road which 

was the target of the partisans often ambushing and sabotaging the German convoys and 

this was their way of fighting the enemy. 

At night they would attack with mortars German army establishments and this was taking 

place at least once or twice a week attacking the nearby army barracks and the Germans 

would retaliate on innocent civilians when they had victims 

One day while we were playing soccer game kicking a cloth ball a young man past 

through running like a puma; couple hundred yards behind him a group of armed 

Germans were chasing him shooting in the air. The young man apparently jumped a high 

stone wall and disappeared among the old houses. The soldiers searched everywhere but 

couldnôt locate him and in frustration they set fire to a house where an elderly couple 

lived. They suspected that they were hiding him. 

                                   

 

 Some (14-18 years old) selected children played a very important role for the struggle to 

freedom during the German occupation. In particular Cousin John organized wood 

cutting trips to the bush which was a usual practice to stock wire wood for domestic use 

for the people of Verria. 

Every day 10-15 boys with donkeys or mules saddled would start the trip early in the 

morning following the narrow and steep track towards the thick forest to cut the allowed 

trees only, by the forestry department.  

At the starting point of the track usually was checked by a German guard looking for 

guns etc. but we never carried such items. We always had with us food much more than 

what we could eat and almost all the food was for the partisans. 

On arrival to the spot John was collecting all the food and would travel farther up in the 

bush to a secret place to meet the guerrilla leaders to give the food and exchange 

information  

This procedure was repeated every day with quite a high risk to our safety but we took 

the risk for our country. 

Once, because I could speak some German I took a mission to buy from German soldiers 

anything they had for sale; all for the resistance army.  
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The map of central and west of Macedonia with the highest mountain of Olympus, 

Pieria and Vermion where most resistance activities took place  

    

Mission disaster 

One day John his brother Vasilis and I went to their ten acres farm near the banks of the 

shallow and stony river. Right opposite was the institute of cotton research establishment, 

which the Germans turned it to an ammunition stores and the head quarters in joint 

operation with the Italian forces. 

On the other side the highway was passing alongside the institute and the farming village 

Macrohori which means (long village), which in fact it was 2 miles long. 

Our job for that day was to harvest some corns and to remove the sesame plants and stack 

them in groups for the process of drying and before sunset we took the horse and the cart 

and departed to go home. 

On the same night and at about 11 o clock the whole town of Veria was awakened from 

gun, machinegun and mortar noise coming from the direction of Macrohori. Most people 

run to their shelters and no one knew what was happening. 

Later in the morning the news spread quickly and we learned that the partisans of ELAS 

(Greek National Liberation Army) in cooperation with the Italian security unit secretly 

from the Germans agreed to open the back gates open for the partisan to capture all the 

Germans and take away all the ammunitions. But 

That secret arrangement wasnôt secret at all. The Italian officer who made the 

arrangement was a double agent and all the plans the partisans made was handed over to 

Gestapo and SS 

What the Germans did was to bring earlier strong reinforcements and planed to leave the 

gates open let them come in and trap all the partisans and kill them without mercy  
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We learned that more than three hundred Greek partisans came with mules and horses 

and some with cart too to carry the loots but they been betrayed badly and paid heavy 

price. 

When things calmed down couple of dayôs later Uncle Panayiotis sent us again to go and 

see what happened there. Before we go to the farm we passed from the nearby farmhouse 

to learn more about the tragedy but nobody was there and all the crops were damaged 

from trampling. 

When we arrived to Uncles farm it worst and didnôt know what to do. 

We gathered some corns and grass for the horse and sat under the tree to eat some food. 

All of sudden a patrol of six armed soldiers armed with automatic guns came and arrested 

us. Young Vasilis scared and started to cry. 

I asked them in quite well German; what was the reason for our arrest  

They told us not to worry. The leader told us to get each a pick and shovel and follow one 

of the soldiers. We did and the rest followed us with the guns pointing on our back. We 

walked in single row through the thick bush alongside the river to a field with sesame and 

came up to a macabre scene. 

There were one young and a middle age man had killed two days ago and their bodies 

were swollen with stinking smell and thousands of flies and worms were eating their 

flesh  

They ordered us to dig a large hole next to the bodies and bury them. 

We guest that the Germans had been there earlier and removed whatever they carried 

with them 

We followed their instruction and buried them not knowing who they were. When we 

finished the job they let us go 

We went home in sock to tell to our parents and friends about this ugly incident which 

never erased from my memory  

I wanted to go back home but it was very risky to travel through the check points which 

were under the Greek collaborators (traitors) control. 

Even traveling from one village to another people had to have special permit from their 

authorities and when they had the least suspicion they could execute you on the spot 

without questions asked. 

 

The failed and disastrous loses the partisans had wasnôt forgotten. We knew that the 

partisans will take revenge and strike somewhere soon. 

Some days later in full daylight couple hundred of partisans ambushed a convoy of ten 

apparently retreating trucks carrying ammunitions heading towards Thessaloniki. The 

location was near the village of Macrohori. They captured all the drivers and co-drivers; 

took all the ammunitions and set fire to every vehicle and disappeared through the thick 

corn fields on the mountains. 

For that; many innocent people paid very high price. 

A large unit of SS soldiers came from Veria and burned every single house stable of the 

sparsely built village Macrohori; even the school and the two churches burned to the 

ground. 

Amazingly they didnôt kill anyone because they found no one in their houses. As soon as 

the people witnessed the sabotage and the burning of the trucks they escaped young and 
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old to the nearby villages. For two days we could see from Veria the whole village going 

up in flames and in thick smoke. 

When the flames and the smoke died down we went from curiosity to see what damage 

they caused. Sure they caused extensive damage to most houses and to a few animals 

which trapped in the stables but most escaped and survived and others like chicken hens 

and cats dispersed in the fields and when the owners returned they returned too 

 

Home sickness 
 

Our stay in Veria wasnôt that pleasant because it was a conflicting place amongst the 

Germans and the partisans. 

We knew that the Germans were losing the war in every front and we were anxious to see 

that to happen in Greece also 

The one way movement of the German army gave us some suspicion that something was 

happening and the feeling of freedom started to blow all over the country but still 

Germans were in every corner and caused us concern. 

I was really home sick; I had not seen dad now for more than three months and hardly 

had news from him neither did he  

Another problem that I had to face was the young Vasilis. For some reason he didnôt like 

me much and often we had arguments telling me off to go home and other abuses for 

which his dad punished him for that unacceptable behavior but he was stubborn boy; he 

was ok when I gave him candies. 

Veria is in close proximity to the ancient city of Vergina where Alexander the Great 

reigned and had his palaces there; the town was regarded very popular having had the 

national highway passing through and also the river with the endless water supply 

through the dip ravine to the rich farming plains in central Macedonia  

The river with the magnificent banks and plane trees was a popular playground for the 

kids to play and swim and also for the adults and lovers to enjoy a drink of ouzo, retsina 

or coffee in the idyllic taverns of Barbouta. 

My preferred place to play was the winding steep tracks to ride my go cart in high speed 

some three hundred meters from the top down to river bank. It was dangerous but some 

other kids and I then didnôt know how risky was 

 

From the beginning of October 1944 there was an unusual movement of the armored 

vehicles trucks and tanks and rumors were spreading around that the Germans were 

withdrawing. Every day thousands would set camped in open spaces and in wide streets 

to rest and we could see then not very happy. Many of them were selling anything 

regarded as surplus. 

 

 

On October 12 1944 the news arrived that the Germans evacuated Athens and the city 

gained its freedom. We elated to learn the news but couldnôt celebrate it openly and 

everyone avoided aggravating their pride and kept quiet in their presence and from 

behind their back there was a party wherever was safe to do it 
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On October 20 1944 we learned that the town of Edessa approx. 60 kilometers and 

Naousa 30 kilometer away were free but the connecting road was still under the control 

of the German patrol troops who were protecting the highway supporting the retreating 

army. 

 

I remember there was a big party meeting at uncleôs place and they decided since the 

Germans were leaving quietly not to confront them to avoid an unnecessary bloodshed 

because still they were heavily armed; instead  

Since Naousa was free they organized to send the theatrical unit of Veria to Naousa to 

stage a patriotic performance of the occasion 

In short notice all the actors and singers were ready but they needed a few horses and 

mules to carry their musical organs and personal things. 

Cousin John organized that and asked me to accompany him for a few days. I was 

delighted to be part of the mission but my mother objected and after a heated argument 

and uncleôs intervention I was allowed to go. 

The group consisted from a dozen artist and four assistants including us two 

John was a good and expert horseman and had good local knowledge in Veria and 

Naousa area and planned the trip to be safe from the German patrols on the main road. 

He used some goat tracks on the slopes not visible by the Germans and we covered 

ourselves walking next to the animals in great distance from each other. We covert the 

distance within 6 hours and when we entered the town of Naousa there was a 

pandemonium from celebrations 

The local party officials met us and they made all the accommodation arrangements for 

all of us. John and I were allocated to stay with a very rich and elderly family which 

provided good breakfast that we had never had seen before. The party officials supplied 

us with coupons to eat at a restaurant lunch and dinner. 

Next day there was a mass celebration for the liberation with speeches and theatrical 

performances. 

Amongst the speakers there was an American army captain in uniform who spoke in 

English and then in perfect Greek. When he mentioned his name (Michael Lafazanis) 

John and I jumped up to say that he must be our second cousin.  

After the speeches we approached him and identified ourselves and he was crying from 

enthusiasm to meet us. Particularly he hugged and kissed me several times and started 

telling me about his lifeôs story which I already knew but I let him to tell us 

He said to me ñWhen your dad migrated to the USA in 1910 my mum then was a 

widow and she had my sister 9 and me 7 years old. Couple of years later she sent a 

letter to him asking to nominate her and us to go to America and he did it strait away 

paying all our fares from Smyrna to New York and finally when we arrived we settled 

to Astoria which was like a Greek town, We didnôt see him because he was in San 

Francisco but when he volunteered to join the Greek Army in 1919 to take part in the 

Asian Minor expedition he came to see us and stayed couple of days with us. We owe to 

him gratitude for helping us to come here and we regard him as our father. I was lucky 

to finish the college here and also the military school to become an USA Army officer. 

Now I am send here in Greece on a mission to help the Greek Liberation Army ELAS.ò 

We been together couple of times but he was very busy and he moved elsewhere with his 

mission. 
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Four day later we learned that Veria was free too and all the Germans withdrawn to 

Thessaloniki. We picked up our things and in a hurry prepared the horses and now using 

the main road we arrived in Veria in no time to see thousands of people enjoying the 

freedom in jubilation. 

Thessaloniki was the first city the Germans occupied and now everyone is waiting to be 

the last to be liberated from the tyrants. Almost four years of oppression was too much 

for our people to bear. 

Anxiously I was waiting for that moment to go back home and on the 30th of October the 

last German units were leaving the city of the north Greece. 

The withdrawal was very destructive to the countryôs infrastructures leaving behind them 

ruins with blown up bridges buildings and transport system  

My first request to mum was to returnee home but the whole country was in chaos with 

no public or private transport so mum suggested waiting another couple of weeks more. I 

had no more patience. I was 15 years old and quite fit and strong determined to walk the 

70 kilometer distance. 

In the morning uncle Panayiotis made an arrangement with two party members to give 

me a lift and travel with them with their hors cart to Halkidona which is little more than 

half the distance to Thessaloniki. 

We left early in the morning in such a slow pace I thought we never will make it. The 

horse; a skin and bone creature hardly could walk and the cart without springs on a road 

with thousands potholes was causing concern to our bones. 

The two men in their fifties all the conversation they made was about the communist 

party and political maters something that didnôt interest me at all and most of the time I 

preferred to walk couple kilometers ahead and wait for them than to ride on that bone 

breaking cart . 

The first day we covered about 30 kilometers in ten hours and just before dark we arrived 

to a small village Kalohori. They went to meet the president who provided to us 

accommodation and meal. He was very hospitable and his wife cooked for us chicken 

and soup and other home made goodies and all drank ouzo to celebrate the occasion of 

freedom. I was out of place and kept quiet all the night since in Greece the adults do not 

allow the children to interfere in their conversations; if they do they tell you ñshut upò 

(skase). 

Next morning after a good breakfast we begun another boring trip but I was happy that 

the gap was narrowing. 

In the afternoon we arrived to a larger town of Halkidona which was their destination. 

The main street was decorated with Greek flag and in every house there was raised also a 

Greek flag and the people with the liberation army together were celebrating singing 

patriotic songs; most of them trunk shooting in the air with their pistols revolvers and 

guns. 

In this town again we stayed with the presidentôs family. They looked after us and I had 

more fun there than in the previous small village 

I went to the EPON club and I gathered more information about the roads and bridges 

and they told me which roads to follow to go home easier. 

Next day early in the morning I hit the road again and I had to cover the 32 kilometers 

distance in about 6-7 hours. 
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Not very far from the town of Halkidona is the Axios River the largest in north Greece 

deep and fast running. When I arrived there I had a sock to see both railway and road 

bridges four hundred meters long blown and sank into the water. 

Hundreds of people of all ages were gathered on both sides unable to cross the river but 

some partisan officials were directing people to walk ten kilometers downwards to use 

the only ferry serving the farmers to take them from one side to another. 

Using the embankment road I followed the crowd and in couple of hours we were there 

queuing for my turn. Priority had the oxen carts the horses and donkeys and the farmers 

then the public. All paid a small fee and when the conductor came to me I told him I had 

no money at all and he let me have a free ride. 

From that point my village is still quite far to make it in the same day and I was certain 

that I could make it to the village of Sindos which is before our village which the two 

villages are separated by the wide river Galikos. 

I would be happy to reach Sindos that night where I had two first cousins there and I 

knew the place very well and I would be well come. 

I walked in muddy roads in sandy roads and finally tired exhausted and dirty and just 

before dark I was knocking my motherôs sisterôs door aunty Nikoleta. Sadly she wasnôt 

there to open the door because sheôd passed away some years earlier but to the nock 

responded my cousins George and Michael. They were speechless to see me in such a 

state; I looked like a beggar they didnôt know about my adventure. 

I washed myself to feel little comfortable; we had something to eat and we talked all 

night about the Germans and the war. To my disappointment they told me that all the 

bridges of the river Galikos were blown up and the only way to go home was to pass the 

river by foot. We had good knowledge of the river area and I decided to cross it by foot 

near the farm of my motherôs brother Manoli. That spot was wider with less current; in 

about an hour I was there and Iôd estimated the water would be about the waste. 

My problem was to keep my clothe dry. Therefore I cut a branch from a willow tree; I 

took my cloths off and tight them up at the end and kept it high above the water and 

slowly walked through the cold and murky waters to the opposite side, I stayed a few 

minutes naked to dry and put my clothes and cutting short through the vegetable gardens 

I was now in the village. Friends met me but all I wanted was to go and meet my father to 

see how he managed by himself for three months. 

When I walked in to the coffee shop he was ecstatic and surprised to see me alone but 

explained why mum couldnôt come at that stage. The place was different now in 

November with the trees without leaves and our kitchen that facing the highway had a big 

hole from the German tanks which fired several shots when they saw my dadôs moving in 

the front yard; they shot at him but missed him but an acacia tree wasnôt that lucky; it was 

chopped two feet above the ground  

Two weeks later my mother arrived to join us. The British Army engineers build a 

temporary bridge over the Axios and Galikos River and restored the traffic. 

For the liberation of Thessaloniki important role-played the partisanôs army of ELAS 

who moved quickly to avert the destruction of the port and the power station of the city 

and other important places from the Germans. Unfortunately they couldnôt prevent 

everything 
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As they were leaving the city a strong contingency of supporting units protected those 

who systematically were blowing up the railway system the telephone and telegraph 

poles, storages of food and ammunition and finally the bridges; 

According to my dads story; the last soldiers to leave our village before the blasting team 

arrive near our shop were the Station masters who lived just across the shop at Mr Sariôs 

house. The train stopped near our shop to pick them up; dad was one of the few who 

stayed put and not abandon his shop and house. 

They all came to say ñgood byeò to my dad. The last to stay longer and had an ouzo with 

dad was Carl Shlitzer; a good friend of the villagers.  

Dad risked persuading him to stay bach and defect because all of them would bee the 

target of partisans before they leave Greece and particularly in Titoôs Yugoslavia. He 

thought to do it but finally he decided to follow the rest. He believed that Germany would 

win the war. He kissed dad good bye and accepted a small bottle of ouzo for the road. 

The train moved slowly because from the last two wagons a supply team of dynamites 

was helping others to blast the rails every ten feet and the telephone polls in half; all this 

operation was protected by patrolling tanks. 

Finally when the war ended in 1944 dad receive a letter from Carl telling him that he was 

in Zagreb in a prison camp. He and some others who survived an ambush were captured 

by the Serb partisans and sent to Zagreb prison camp; while there he asked dad to send 

him cigarettes or tobacco and dad responded with pleasure and sent him both  but did not 

received them all as he said later in his letter. After that we lost contact; that was in 1945 

after the end of WW2 

There wasnôt any one who wasnôt happy to be free from the German occupation. As 

everyone hoped for a better life and better days ahead the situation in our country was in 

chaos. There wasnôt any authority to control people from looting the countryôs property; 

damaged or not; also the act of violence by people taking revenge by killing or bashing 

against other people with different political believes. 

Iôve witnessed a lot of ugly cases. Even I went to steal from a damaged building a door to 

make a bed because I didnôt have one I used to slept on the hay mattress which was on 

the floor and I carried it on my back from 2 kilometers away. Mum and dad werenôt 

happy and cautioned me no to repeat such an act again. 

The liberating communist forces ELAS (ȺȿȷɆ) army and the opposition nationalist 

EDES (ȺȹȺɆ) army were two antagonizing guerrilla type armies and werenôt well 

organized to govern the country and were in clash from the beginning until the war 

ended. 

Apart from those two; we had the original government which returned from exile in 

Egypt and claimed the legitimacy of power to govern. 

 And until they come to an agreement I will unwind the tape of my memory about the 

events I have witnessed in a short period of time. 

The looting was indescribable as thousands of people rushed to take advantage to take 

anything they could remove from building, stores of food and ammunitions, machineries 

and other stuff  

Before the war; between our two communities; Nea Magnesia and Diavata and 

Thessaloniki there was an empty space of about 6 kilometers. When the Germans 

occupied Greece that space within six months developed to a giant railway complex for 

the needs of their army 
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This complex of factories, buildings, barracks and storages demolished and looted within 

a week to the last brick. In another station after our village of Lahanokipos on a rail 

carriage there was a big diesel electric power generator on four iron wheels almost brand 

new. 

 The local communist party officials of EAM decided to remove it and install the 

generator in our village, which had no electricity at all. They mobilized hundreds of 

people to construct a rump to roll it on the ground; then about twenty horses and many 

people to tow the heavy unit three kilometers through the muddy and sandy road in the 

open space next to the town hallôs block of land. 

They called from Thessaloniki an engineer to inspect and start it. I was curious to see if 

he could manage to start it and he did and gave the ok that it was in perfect condition and 

very modern. 

Since there was no official government and other authority they obliged Mr. Athanasio 

Hadjimarko; a local builder and engineer to build a concrete base to place the unit and 

then to erect around it the building; as for the bricks and other materials they sent other 

people to collect them from other demolished buildings. 

Before they put the roof the railway authorities sent two representatives to claim it 

because according to them the unit belonged to them and they needed for their machine 

shop and the acquisition was illegal. 

Iôd never seen that many angry people bushing those two poor guys. If it werenôt for a 

few elderly and wise men to intervene they would have kill them. They left with their 

faces covert in blood and hardly able to walk. 

Next day about fifty armed soldiers of ELAS came and arrest all the EAM officials and 

took the away for questioning. 

Next day a team of experts under guard protection came and towed the unit away and left 

the building empty. 

 

The execution of Ari 
Ari was a young man who; perhaps because of hunger or he sympathized them he joined 

the occupation security forces and in fact to fight the partisans. He was regarded as a 

collaborator with the Germans 

He fell in love with a local girl and became engage but he wasnôt liked much by the 

villagers 

When the Germans were retreating from Thessaloniki he was engaged in a gunfight with 

the partisans and he lost by a bullet both his eyes and captured. After a temporary 

treatment they handed him over to the local militia. They put him on public trial by the 

people in our school yard and forced everyone to be there to make a decision by raising 

his/her hand. 

The judges were three party members standing on a ox cart with Ari next to them and 

without questions asked they sentenced him to death and they asked all to raise their 

hand. Who dared not to raise his hand? 

I was watching the whole procedure, which lasted only a few minutes. 

When they said ñDEATHò two Serbian associated partisans drugged him down, put him 

against the schools wall and executed him in front of hundreds of people. 

His fianc®e frantically tried to save him crying and begging the ñjudgesò to spare his life; 

since he was blinded and already paid for his criIt was an awful scene. 
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Nikos Kavalieros 
 

Nikos was a prominent and well off citizen in our village; he settled before the II WW 

and build an engine driven flourmill to serve the needs of the surrounding villages; since 

the only water mill we had couldnôt coop with the increasing demands 

He was very kind and generous man and was well-respected and good friend with 

everyone; except probably with one or two. 

One day all of a sudden he disappeared and his absence concerned fears that something 

was wrong. In vain his wife and his two young children were looking for him in every 

possible place  

The mystery came in light when three weeks later the hungry dogs dug off a shallow 

grave in the sandy banks of the River Galikos and uncovered his body 

Suspicions went towards two of the communist EAM party officials but they pretended 

ignorance  

In later months when a Greek legitimate government established they disappeared to the 

communist block countries and lived there in self-exile more than 40 years without being 

prosecuted. 

 

The Koniali family   
 

In a farmhouse on the outskirts of our village next to the farm of Thanasi Hadjimarkos 

lived a middle age couple with their 18-year-old son. They struggle to make living 

cultivating vegetables. 

One morning in November 1944 when my friend Nick Hadjimarkos with some other 

workers went to their farm to gather cabbages and carrots; he though to go and greet them 

as he used to do often;  

He found the door open and called them to say hello but didnôt get any answer. He 

walked in to see why there wasnôt any response and he came upon a macabre scene. 

All three were lying in the rooms dead with their heads and the walls covered in blood. 

Nick ran to tell the news to his dad and in minutes all the villagers informed about this 

atrocious crime which never been solved 

I was one of the curious who witness the terrible murders. 

 

Tall Antonio ñthe traitorò 
 

Antonio was a tall man app. 35 years old from a village close to Veria who during the 

German occupation collaborated and joined the security forces. When the Germans 

withdrew he was captured in our village by the liberation army ELAS and jailed in a 

temporary detention house with some others. 

Apparently he had committed several crimes against his fellow villagers. When they 

discovered about his presence; some of his fellow villagers that fell victims from his acts 

came armed to take revenge. 

They demanded from the local militia authorities to take him away and put him on trial in 

their own village. 
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Then I was a teenage boy helping the secretary typing various items at the office and I 

witnessed the heated argument they had. Finally they took him away despite his objection 

and walked towards Thessaloniki arguing about his killings. Thirty and more people and 

mostly children including me with curiosity followed them  

Suddenly the capturers changed direction towards the farms. Tall Antonis suspected that 

something would go wrong and started to argue with his old friends but couldnôt run 

away with his hand tight behind his back. 

Then one of them pulled a knife and stabbed him on the back several times telling the 

people. ñThis bastard raped my wife and killed my two children because I joined the 

liberation armyò  
Well!  We all witnessed that horrible killing committed in front of us. The country was in 

anarchy and everybody could anything in those days. 

 

The great explosion 
 

As I mentioned earlier the looting and destruction of public properties for more than two 

months was uncontrollable. Even those who were regarded officials and who owed to 

protect the nations property they were looting more than the others. 

The children preferred to loot ammunitions gunpowder from shells and bombs to play 

and make pyrotechnics. Among those, my friend Nikos Hadjimarkos and I were the 

masters in collecting all those dangerous things and dynamites of all sizes. We used an 

old underground bunker to hide them and in a short time we accumulated explosives to 

blow up the whole town and no one new about our collections. We had bundles of fuses 

and thousands of detonators in our possession. 

One day we went to the nearby railway station of Lahanokipos where the Germans left a 

train with thirty and more carriages intact full with ammunitions. 

When Niko and I arrived there to get some particular shells to open them up for the 

gunpowder; we met six younger boys 10-12 from our village we knew and saw them 

trying to open the boxes by hitting them with an ax. 

We warned them that if they hit the shells capsule it may explode. They didnôt listen. 

Instead they told us to fé. off. 

We left in a hurry and went to the abandoned station with the telephones and telegraphs 

damaged and empty. We found nothing to get from there but farther down there was a tall 

concrete water tank to supply water for the steam engines. We looked up and we saw the 

chain of the float showing the tank was empty. We used the narrow iron step ladder and 

climbed to the top of the tank to see if it was empty; yes it was empty and the view from 

up there was magnificent. We liked the chain of the water indicator and we decided to 

remove it. Nick went down to unhook it and I lifted up and threw it on the ground and 

both came down and put it in our sack. 

A few minutes later a middle age man and a young boy about 18 arrived there; the man 

introduced himself as the station master who worked there and the boy his son who came 

to see the station. 

After a short conversation we said good bye and decided to go home.  

As we walked alongside the railway we saw a derailed workers buggy; we put back on 

the rails to play and to carry our lootings. 
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We passed close from the carriages where our young friends still were opening the 

ammunition boxes; we talked to them again and continued our trip home. 

When we gained some distance of about 300 meter a loud explosion occurred which an 

air pressure threw us into a ditch full of thorns. For several minutes we were unconscious 

and deaf; when we gained little consciousness we ran as fast as we could to go home. 

The whole town was in panic and rushed towards the station to find out what happened. 

When we arrived close to our houses our parent already were out looking for us; when 

they saw us coming from that direction they started asking questions what happened but 

we pretended new nothing about. 

Soon we learned that all the boys were killed and all they found was one shoe and part of 

his leg. 

Also the stationmasterôs son whom we talked earlier was hit by a shrapnel on the head 

and killed instantly. His body was brought late in the afternoon in the townôs militia 

office. His father went insane and was singing and talking nonsense. We went to see the 

young man and felt very sorry. 

 

The big blast 
 

After about three months of rebellion and anarchy early in 1945 there was some stability 

law and order. The western governments and allies appointed the exiled government to 

govern and the communist party EAM and ELAS wasnôt recognized any more excluded 

and regarded illegal political party. 

This forced them to arm themselves again and start a bloody and ugly civil war which 

lasted almost five years with disastrous results  

This is a unique story for which I will write later 

 

When life began to return back to normal Niko and I concerned what to with our illegal 

ammunition stock. We didnôt want to give them back to the authorities. So 

We thought to take them to a farm they had near the banks of the river Galikos two 

kilometers out of the village to plow them up 

Our plan went smoothly without anybody to notice it. We loaded their horse with more 

than 500 kilograms of explosives and stack them near the running water. 

 I decided to light he fuse and run and jump on the cart and Nikos remained on the cart 

ready to whip the horse to get away as much as we could. 

It took about 30 seconds and a big explosion rocked the entire area. A black smoke and a 

cloud of sand went hundreds of meter high causing a rain of sand. The horse bolted and 

went into the farm and we lost our hearing for several minutes  

The blast was heard as far as the city of Thessaloniki 12 kilometers away, everyone in the 

village panicked again waiting to hear for more victims of children, 

When we returned home everyone was asking us what happened; we pretended we knew 

nothing. 

It was a stupid act but then most children fallen victims of the war materials the Germans 

left behind and the most dangerous were those watches, pens, wallets, purses and toys 

unsuspected item which looked real but they were bombs  

Many people; mostly children lost their hands, fingers and eyes from those things. 

 



 57 

                                                      THE END OF WWII  

PERIOD C ̀                      

A new era 
The II WW was over and the situation started to normalize and life to take its course for a 

better future. I was now 16 and had missed 5 years of basic schooling because of the war. 

Most schools started operating and still I had the desire to go to a high school in 

Thessaloniki but I had to sit for an exam, which concerned me because I wasnôt prepared 

for, that also the transportation or the accommodation was a problem. 

Unexpectedly this problem solved when uncle Panagiotis from Veria visited us on a 

business trip to Thessaloniki. 

He offered me accommodation with meals all free to start school in Veria; even without 

exams because he knew the headmaster. My parents agree and I was happy too to go 

again there and meet the friends I made some months earlier. What bothered me was that 

young Vasilis who would annoy me all the time again; otherwise it was all right. 

To my surprise my friend Fotis wanted to come with me to start school there and lucky 

enough uncle Panagiotis accepted him too; that way I could have had a close friend with 

me. 

In couple of days we were ready and using the United Nations trucks, which were 

delivering food to Veria we traveled there for free hitch hiking   

      

                                            
 

1945. A school photo in Veria with school friends of the neighborhood I am second on 

top and Fotis is fourth. 

We were in the same class room all 16-17 years old in year 12 because of the war. We 

couldnôt finish the high school in time because at the age of 21 we had to go to serve in 

the army compulsorily. 

It was really hard for everyone to follow the lessons. Five years gap in elementary 

education is a great miss for a child.  
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We had faith and willingness to learn and we tried hard to improve ourselves for the 

promising future. 

In Veria now was altogether a different epoch and we enjoyed life with our friends 

studying and helping each other and in free times walking in the most popular park of 

Elia. But  

This suddenly interrupted when Fotis and I had a message to return home because our 

parents enrolled us in a school we had never heard before  

We did as our parents requested. 

We packed our belongings and hitch hiking again with the same vehicles returned home. 

They told us that they enrolled us to an American Farm School on the outskirts of East 

Thessaloniki for a four year course in agriculture. 

 

                
 

            THESSALONICA AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL INSTITUTE 

                                              AMERICAN FARM SCHOOL 

 

We new about the American Anatolia College which was only for the rich boys but we 

didnôt know of the existence of American Farm School. 

Another big surprise was that Nikos Hajimarkos was enrolled also. So the trio Nikos, 

Fotis and I will be together as boarders for four years studying agriculture. 

We were very anxious to go and see the school. For this Nikos dad Thanasi harnessed the 

horse and using their cart took our mothers and us and went to visit the school and meet 

the director and some teachers 



 59 

When we entered the main gate we saw a modern town with manicured gardens and 

beautiful school buildings. Not far away the dairy, pigsty and poultry and the electricity 

supply station and the huge machine shop and other educational   sections the whole 

school was surrounded by cultivated farm which belonged to the institution 

We had an extended tour in every section and couldnôt believe how lucky we was to be 

part of that magnificent school. The school building was so impressive with the great 

assembly hall the dormitories, class rooms even had a Greek O. Church on the roof top 

floor. Also in front of the building a large swimming pool by trees and flowers   

   

                           
 

September 1945 in front of the main gate of the American Farm School 

Standing Fotis Diamantopoulos Frixos Giannios Anastasios Istokoglou kneeling Nikos 

Hadjimarkos and Anastasios Kolokotronis (myself) 

 

                           
 

          1945. Here I am in front of the main school buildingò the Princeton Hallò 
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1945 memorial service for the founder of the school John Henry House at the schools 

cemetery; left Mrs. Joice NanKivell Loch from Queensland Australia founder of the 

Girls School Mrs. Ann and Charles House directors of the American Farm School and 

Mr. Sidney Loch Joiceôs husband from Scotland. All dedicated their life to educate 

Greek children  
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           Mrs. Joice Loch died on October 7/1982 in Ouranoupoli-Halkidiki Greece  

  

             
 

1946. Joice Loch Girls School of Quakers performing an ancient Greek dance at the 

Americanôs Farm School grounds 

 


